International Alert.

A CLIMATE OF CONFLICT The links between climate change, peace and war

Dan Smith Janani Vivekananda

November 2007

Understanding conflict. Building peace.

About International Alert

International Alert is an independent peacebuilding organisation that has worked for over 20 years to lay the foundations for lasting peace and security in communities affected by violent conflict. Our multifaceted approach focuses both in and across various regions; aiming to shape policies and practices that affect peacebuilding; and helping build skills and capacity through training. Our regional work is based in the African Great Lakes, West Africa, the South Caucasus, Nepal, Sri Lanka, the Philippines and Colombia. Our thematic projects work at local, regional and international levels, focusing on cross-cutting issues critical to building sustainable peace. These include business and economy, gender, governance, aid, security and justice. We are one of the world's leading peacebuilding NGOs; in 2006 our income was £5.3 million and we had more than 100 staff based in London and our 10 field offices.

© International Alert 2007

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without full attribution.

Layout by D. R. Ink, info@d-r-ink.com Printed by Jason Print Front cover image: © UNICEF/ HQ06-0200/Michael Kamber Image page 7: © Reuters/Hudson Apunyo, courtesy www.alertnet.org Image page 37: © UNICEF/ HQ04-0886/Shehzad Noorani All other images © International Alert

A CLIMATE OF CONFLICT

The links between climate change, peace and war

Dan Smith Janani Vivekananda

November 2007

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY		3
1.	INTRODUCTION: CLIMATE CHANGE, DEVELOPMENT AND PEACEBUILDING	7
2.	THE DOUBLE-HEADED PROBLEM OF CLIMATE CHANGE AND VIOLENT CONFLICT	9
	Risk and risk management	9
	The consequences of consequences	10
	Diagram: The Impact of Climate Change: Two possible roads ahead	10
	Box 1: Algeria	11
	Box 2: Darfur	12
	Box 3: Peru Dev (Developed	14
	Box 4: Bangladesn Box 5: Karachi	10
	Climate change and global insecurity	17
	Man. The Double-Headed Rick	17
	Governance matters	20
	Box 6: Mali and Chad	20
	Key risks	21
3.	THE UNIFIED SOLUTION	23
	Why the international community should act	23
	Regional cooperation	24
	A role for the private sector	25
	Complexities of cooperation	25
	Box 7: Current frameworks on climate change	26
	Peacebuilding	30
	Linking peacebuilding and climate adaptation	31
	Dox o: Liberia Developing social resilience	31
	Box 9. Nenal	34
	The practicalities of adaptation	36
4.	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	37
	Twelve recommendations for addressing climate change in fragile states	38
		42
LIST OF STATES AT RISK		44

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Preparation of this report owes a lot to the participation of Kaitlin Shilling, of the Program on Food Security and the Environment, Stanford University, California, who contributed data and analysis on climate change and its consequences in a number of countries and regions. She also helped us explore the relationship between food insecurity, governance and conflict potential in both generic and country-specific terms. In addition, our work benefited from the generosity of Dr. Fiona Rotberg, of the Silk Road Studies Institute, Uppsala University, Sweden, with further contributions of data and analysis. Financial support for a project consultation in New York during the report's preparation was provided by the Center of International Cooperation, New York University. We are grateful to the Center not only for that assistance but also for the time, energy and insights of CIC's Co-Director, Dr. Bruce Jones. None of these colleagues or their institutions bears any responsibilities for any errors or uncertainties of fact or analysis that remain. This report is the responsibility of International Alert and does not necessarily reflect the views of any of our donors.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Climate change is upon us and its physical effects have started to unfold. That is the broad scientific consensus expressed in the Fourth Assessment Review of the Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change. This report takes this finding as its starting point and looks at the social and human consequences that are likely to ensue – particularly the risks of conflict and instability.

Climate, poverty, governance

Hardest hit by climate change will be people living in poverty, in under-developed and unstable states, under poor governance. The effect of the physical consequences – such as more frequent extreme weather, melting glaciers, and shorter growing seasons – will add to the pressures under which those societies already live. The background of poverty and bad governance means many of these communities both have a low capacity to adapt to climate change and face a high risk of violent conflict.

To understand how the effects of climate change will interact with socio-economic and political problems in poorer countries means tracing the *consequences of consequences*. This process highlights four key elements of risk – political instability, economic weakness, food insecurity and large-scale migration. Political instability and bad governance make it hard to adapt to the physical effects of climate change and hard to handle any conflicts that arise without violence. Economic weakness narrows the range of income possibilities for the population and deprives the state of resources with which to meet people's needs. Food insecurity challenges the very basis of being able to continue living in a particular locality and, as a response to that and other kinds of insecurity, large-scale migration carries high risk of conflict because of the fearful reactions it often receives and the inflammatory politics that often greet it.

Countries at risk

Many of the world's poorest countries and communities thus face a double-headed problem: that of climate change and violent conflict. There is a real risk that climate change will compound the propensity for violent conflict, which in turn will leave communities poorer, less resilient and less able to cope with the consequences of climate change. There are 46 countries – home to 2.7 billion people – in which the effects of climate change interacting with economic, social and political problems will create a high risk of violent conflict.

There is a second group of 56 countries where the institutions of government will have great difficulty taking the strain of climate change on top of all their other current challenges. In these countries, though the risk of armed conflict may not be so immediate, the interaction of climate change and other factors creates a high risk of political instability, with potential violent conflict a distinct risk in the longer term. These 56 countries are home to 1.2 billion people.

In most of the conflict-threatened group of 46 states (many of them currently or recently affected by violent conflict) and in many of the group of 56 that faces the risk of instability, it is too late to believe the situation can be made safe solely by reducing carbon emissions worldwide and mitigating climate change. Those measures are essential but their effects will only be felt with time. What is required now is for states and communities to *adapt* to handle the challenges of climate change.

Adaptation

In most of the countries that face the double-headed problem of climate change and violent conflict, the governments cannot be expected to take on the task of adaptation alone. Some of them lack the will, more lack the capacity, and some lack both. What is required is international cooperation to support local action, both as a way of strengthening international security and to achieve the goals of sustainable development.

Without dropping or downplaying mitigation, the international policy agenda thus needs a significant increase in the energy and resources that are focused on adaptation. Against estimated costs of adaptation that range from \$10-40 billion, the resources currently available amount to a few hundred million dollars with another billion somewhere in the pipeline.

At the same time as adaptation must receive more emphasis and more funding, it matters even more that it is the right kind of adaptation and that money is spent in the right way. To organise adaptation as top-down programmes will alienate local communities because it will feel like a series of external impositions, decided by government authorities from which they feel distant and explained by outside experts with whom they have nothing in common.

A different approach is possible, based on peacebuilding, engaging communities' energies in a social process to work out how to adapt to climate change and how to handle conflicts as they arise, so that they do not become violent. It is an approach that brings the hard science of climate change – which local communities do not and cannot be expected to know in the first instance, and which must be communicated clearly – together with local knowledge and understanding to figure out the best mode of adaptation.

Adaptation and peacebuilding

The double-headed problem of climate change and violent conflict thus has a unified solution – peacebuilding and adaptation are effectively the same kind of activity, involving the same kinds of methods of dialogue and social engagement, requiring from governments the same values of inclusivity and transparency. At the same time as adaptation to climate change can and must be made conflict-sensitive, peacebuilding and development must be made climate-sensitive.

A society that can develop adaptive strategies for climate change in this way is well equipped to avoid armed conflict. And a society that can manage conflicts and major disagreements over serious issues without a high risk of violence is well equipped to adapt successfully to the challenge of climate change. Climate change could even reconcile otherwise divided communities by posing a threat against which to unite and tasks on which to cooperate.

Twelve recommendations for addressing climate change in fragile states

1. Move the issue of conflict and climate change higher up the international political agenda

New initiatives are needed to gain agreement on the importance of adaptation, especially in fragile states, and to develop international guidelines and make available adequate funding.

2. Research the indirect local consequences of climate change

Research is urgently needed on how the social and political consequences of climate change are likely to play out in specific regions, countries and localities.

3. Develop and spread research competence

University and research networks need mobilising and strengthening to develop and spread competence on these issues, especially where consequences of climate change will hit hardest.

4. Improve knowledge and generate policy through dialogue

International cooperation needs to promote dialogue on adaptation among local communities, national governments and regional organisations.

5. Prioritise adaptation over mitigation in fragile states

In fragile states, priority should be given to understanding and addressing the consequences of the consequences of climate change to prevent violent conflict.

6. Develop the right institutional context: good governance for climate change

Developing competence on adaptation needs to be treated as part of good governance everywhere.

7. Prepare to manage migration

Research identifying likely migration flows can help identify both migrant and host communities where dialogue should be started early to prepare to manage the process.

8. Ensure National Adaptation Plans of Action are conflict-sensitive

National Adaptation Plans of Action should take account of a state's socio-political and economic context and conflict dynamics.

9. Climate-proof peacebuilding and development

Peacebuilding and development strategies should include adaptation to climate change and make explicit how activities on these three interconnected strands strengthen one another.

10. Engage the private sector

Guidelines are needed to help companies identify how their core commercial operations can support adaptation.

11. Link together international frameworks of action

Greater efforts are needed to link the variety of separate international approaches with the related issues of peacebuilding, development, adaptation and disaster management.

12. Promote regional cooperation on adaptation

International cooperation on adaptation is for regional bodies as well as for the UN.





INTRODUCTION: CLIMATE CHANGE, DEVELOPMENT AND PEACEBUILDING

Climate change is the latest hot topic on the international agenda. Even before the Nobel Peace Prize for 2007 was awarded to the Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and to Al Gore, the issue's profile was rising. At the end of 2006, Sir Nicholas Stern headed a major review of the economics of global warming for the UK government and gained considerable media coverage.¹ In 2007 the IPCC itself produced its Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) with major media attention as each of its three working groups issued their findings.² The AR4 has moved the climate change debate along in several ways. First, it reflects a major increase in the degree of scientific consensus about the reality of climate change and, second, growing consensus that it is caused by human activity. Third, the AR4 emphasises that the consequences of climate change are already unfolding and, fourth, it makes long-term projections about the extent and physical consequences of climate change that are more serious and far-reaching than in previous reports.

The evidence and arguments of the international scientific body will be neither queried nor extended in this report. Our starting point is the IPCC's finding that climate change and its consequences are not topics for the long-term future alone – they are upon us.

Some governments and international organisations are developing strategies to address the causes of climate change and *mitigate* global warming by reducing carbon emissions and energy consumption. But mitigation, even if taken up immediately and on a massive scale, cannot prevent the initial effects of global warming from unfolding through world weather systems and affecting the lives of hundreds of millions of people.

Climate change is upon us and there is an urgent need to work out how to *adapt* to it. This is the next step in governmental policy. There have been some moves in this direction, with the 2006 *Stern Review* offering policy-makers a comprehensive assessment of the impact climate change will have on the global economy. Working Group II of the IPCC on Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability also offers valuable analysis of the implications of the physical effects of climate change across the world.

This report sets out to look further into these *consequences of consequences* of climate change. It looks at their socio-political effects – particularly in fragile states – and their implications for the risk of violent conflict.

The people for whom the knock-on social consequences of climate change will be most serious and hardest to adapt to are largely those living in poverty, in under-developed and unstable states, under poor governance. For them, the impact of the physical consequences will interact with a mix of these economic, social and political factors to produce a low capacity to adapt and a high risk of serious consequences such as widespread malnutrition and starvation, mass migration or violent conflict.

These fragile states thus face a double-headed problem: that of climate change and violent conflict. If nothing is done, the relationship between the two parts of the problem will be mutually and negatively reinforcing. There is a real risk that climate change will compound the propensity for violent conflict which, in turn, will leave communities poorer, less resilient and less able to cope with the consequences of climate change.

But there is also an opportunity here: if it is targeted and appropriately addressed, this vicious circle can be transformed into a virtuous one. If communities can enhance their ability to adapt to consequences of climate change, this will help reduce the risk of violence. And peacebuilding activities, which address socio-economic instability and weak governance, will leave communities better placed to adapt to the challenges of climate change which, in turn, will result in more peaceful societies regardless of how climate change unfolds. Indeed, climate change offers an opportunity for peacebuilding, for it is an issue that can unite otherwise divided and unreconciled communities. It offers a threat to unite against and multiple tasks through which to cooperate.

So, as the *Stern Review* argues with reference to economic policy, even if the science is wrong and the predictions of the future impacts of climate change are not ultimately borne out, taking account of climate change will create a win-win situation in fragile states.

The physical consequences of climate change may be largely in the hands of nature, but the consequences of these consequences are not. The issue of adaptation to climate change is at heart a matter of governance – the strength of government institutions, the state's efficiency (or lack of it) in providing basic services, and the influence of regional and international cooperation. It is the state's job to handle the effects of climate change so as to minimise harm to its citizens; states with good governance are by definition better equipped for the task than those without.

For example, where global warming shortens the growing season, the result will be a risk of food insecurity. The government's response will define whether this insecurity is redressed through a redistribution of resources, or whether it leads to a violent struggle for control of dwindling resources, or to large scale migration. Equally, global warming may make it impossible for people to carry on living and working in low-lying coastal areas. In this case, the response of government will define whether those people are looked after and get alternative economic opportunities or are neglected, resentful and ready to support violently overturning an unjust social order.

The task of rising to the challenge of adaptation to face the social and political consequences cannot be left in the hands of individual states that are already unable (even when willing) to care properly for their citizens. The only prospect of handling these challenges positively is through international cooperation. That means mobilising not just international organisations such as the UN and its agencies but, more especially, regional and sub-regional groupings. It means drawing on the capacities of stronger neighbours to help the less capable governments. It means richer governments – the western donor governments but also China, India and other new donors governments, such as those from the Middle East – stepping up to provide the resources to analyse and prepare for these challenges.

At the same time, the place where adaptation must happen is in local communities themselves. International and national policies need to be shaped so as to engage in the task of adapting the energies of those with most to lose by inaction and most to gain by responding creatively to the challenge of climate change. In many countries, rising to the challenge will mean unprecedented degrees of cooperation between local and national leaders, between the formal and informal authorities, and between the state and its people.

The purpose of this report is to understand how the consequences of climate change can lead to violent conflict, and to show how this will hinder the effort to adapt to climate change. Out of this, we want to show that peacebuilding and adaptation to climate change can complement each other in laying the basis for long-term social and economic development. And lastly, we want to identify policies and mechanisms that will help communities understand the challenges of climate change and respond in such a way that they avoid violent conflict.



THE DOUBLE-HEADED PROBLEM OF CLIMATE CHANGE AND VIOLENT CONFLICT

Climate change and violent conflict present countries and communities with a double-headed problem. The two parts are mutually reinforcing; many of the countries predicted to be worst affected by climate change are also affected or threatened by violence and instability.

The increase in global average temperatures that is already unfolding and is projected to continue will change the climate in many parts of the world. The effects will vary – sea-level rise threatening low-lying small islands and coastal areas, more severe droughts and shorter growing seasons in some places, more storms and floods in others, glaciers melting, deserts forming. These will combine with existing pressures on natural resources and lead in many areas to failing crops, inadequate food supplies and increasingly insecure livelihoods. These further consequences will be especially sharp in countries where poverty, exclusion, inequality and injustice are already entrenched.

From everything we know about how mutually interlocking factors such as poverty, bad governance and the legacy of past conflicts generate risks of new violence, it is safe to predict that the consequences of climate change will combine with other factors to put additional strain on already fragile social and political systems. These are the conditions in which conflicts flourish and cannot be resolved without violence because governments are arbitrary, inept and corrupt. If the relationship between climate change and violent conflict is not addressed, there will be a vicious circle of failure to adapt to climate change, worsening the risk of violent conflict and, in turn, reducing further the ability to adapt.

Risk and risk management

The effects of changing weather patterns will render previous lifestyles and habitats unviable in many places. Some of these changes will be sudden, such as tropical storms and flash floods. Others will be much slower in their onset, such as the steadily falling water levels in the Ganges basin, lengthening droughts on the margins of the Sahel, glacial melting in Peru and Nepal, and rising sea levels. This will lead to increased food insecurity – not just food shortages but uncertainty of supply.

Both sudden shocks and slow onset changes can increase the risk of violent conflict in unstable states because they lack the capacity to respond, adapt and recover. It is likely that the most common way of thinking about how to respond to these problems is through huge humanitarian relief efforts, since such events and the response to them get a great deal of news coverage. But there is a growing awareness that what is really needed is for communities and countries to prepare against sudden shocks, to build their resilience and their adaptive capacity. Where that is possible, as we argue in chapter 3 of this report, communities will not only be better prepared against potential disasters such as floods, but they will, in consequence, also be reducing the risk of conflicts erupting, getting out of control and escalating to violence. Seen in this light, adaptation to the effects of climate change can be a part of peacebuilding and peacebuilding is a way of increasing adaptive capacity. In the medium to long term, peacebuilding will also increase unstable states' capacities for mitigation.

Vulnerability to climate change is the product of three factors – exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity.³ The first issue is whether a country – or a city, or community, or region – is going to be exposed to physical effects of climate change such as increased frequency of extreme weather. The second issue is how sensitive it is to that exposure – a storm may hit two cities but only cause floods in one of them because it is low lying. And the third issue is whether there is adaptive capacity which, for example, enables city authorities to build flood defences and be ready with quick and safe evacuation plans, while the national government has prepared to care for those who are displaced and can swiftly allocate resources for repair and rebuilding when the floods recede.

This can all be best understood as a matter of identifying and managing risk. Strengthening the capacity to adapt to climate change will not eliminate risk, but it will reduce it. Where there is a risk of violent conflict because of a combination of factors such as poverty, bad governance and a recent history of war, the capacity to manage the risks associated with climate change is also much reduced.

The consequences of consequences

In many countries, one cumulative impact of climate change will be to increase the potential for violent conflict. As we trace this process, we are looking at the *consequences of consequences* and attempting to track their interactions with other social processes with roots in different aspects of the human condition. Whether countries and communities can adapt so as to cope with the adverse knock-on effects of climate change depends on how a number of variables play out.

It is worth prefacing a brief look at these key variables with two general comments about the causes of violent conflict. It is axiomatic that conflict, as such, is not the central problem – rather, violent conflict is. In other words, conflicts are inevitable, necessary and often productive and key to social progress. What matters is how the conflicts are handled; in particular, whether the participants can reach an acceptable outcome without violence. In this perspective, the consequences of consequences of climate change are bound to include conflict, but need not include violent conflict up to and including the level of war.

The Impact of Climate Change: Two possible roads ahead

Algeria is expected to face serious climate change effects in the form of increased and faster desertification, with increasing water scarcity and severe food insecurity. Because the population and arable land are concentrated in the north of the country, these effects will be worst felt there.

Only three percent of Algeria's land area is arable,⁴ which is not nearly enough to provide food for the population so Algeria has to import about 45 percent of its total food consumption and more than half of its grain. Moreover, farmland is already at risk of desertification, which will only be accelerated by rising temperatures and decreasing rainfall. Algeria's dependence on food imports is thus likely to increase and its food security will be extremely vulnerable to possible international grain shortages.⁵

Algeria experienced a decade of civil war from 1992, with a death toll of 150,000. Since 2002, when elections were held but marred by violence, the country has embarked on a transition towards democracy and peace, though armed insurgent groups are still active and the country is still in a state of socioeconomic turmoil. The economy is in the difficult process of transforming from being state-controlled to being more market-oriented. Algeria suffers from unemployment of about 25 percent overall, although among the under-25s the unemployment rate is 50 percent.⁶

In addition to the Algerian citizens who are suffering from a lack of livelihood, there are also migrants from

the south. Some of these continue to Europe while others settle in Algeria, adding pressure to an already stressed demographic situation. With nowhere else to settle, many of these people will wind up in the cities or in the outlying slums. This rapid, and sometimes illegal, urbanisation exacerbates the environmental stress that already exists in the cities, such as poor air and water quality.⁷

The Algerian government has to cope with these socioeconomic challenges of migration, unemployment and economic reform, and then on top of those faces the additional risks resulting from climate change. The country has been in an official State of Emergency since 1992, with wide-ranging powers for the state and limits on freedoms for political parties and other groups. Its continuation today is justified by the government on the basis of the War on Terror.⁸ The issues that led to war in the 1990s have not been resolved and there are militant Islamist groups that remain committed to violently overthrowing the state. Though their capacity is much reduced when compared with the height of the war, their continued existence signals the continuing fragility of peace in Algeria.

Though there is a long way to go on the road to peace, the government has made progress and life for ordinary Algerians is much improved as a result. But in combination with other long-standing economic, social and conflict problems, the effects of climate change risk overwhelming the coping ability of both the Algerian people and the state.

Algeria: to Recovery from or conflict is at nes risk

BOX 1

BOX 2 Darfur: Understanding the causes

12

The conflict and resulting human tragedy that have unfolded in Darfur since 2003 have grabbed international headlines. As the UN Security Council hammered out a deal to get an international peacekeeping force deployed there, discussions about how to understand the causes of the conflict intensified.

When Darfur first made headlines, the most common way of explaining the context was in terms of ethnic differences between Arabs and Africans. More recently, some have argued – UN Secretary General Ban Ki-Moon among them – that 'the Darfur conflict began as an ecological crisis, arising at least in part from climate change'.⁹

No conflict ever has a single cause. In the case of Sudan, the escalation of violence has been attributed to such factors as: historical grievances; local perceptions of race; demands for a fair distribution of power between different groups; the unfair distribution of economic resources and benefits; disputes over access to and control of increasingly scarce land, livestock and water between pastoralists and agriculturalists; small arms proliferation and the militarisation of youth; and weak state institutions.¹⁰

Arab-African differences are not as clear cut as some commentators first thought. Political and military alliances frequently shift between ethnic groups, depending on pragmatic considerations. The difference between herders and farmers is also variable. According to the UN Environment Programme,¹¹ the rural livelihood structures in Sudan are complex and vary from area to area. In many cases, farmers and herders are not separable as some tribes practice both herding and crop cultivation.

The impact of climate change, in particular the 20year Sahelian drought, played a major role in intensifying grievances in Sudan because it meant there was less land for both farming and herding. These issues played out against a background of economic and political marginalisation, as well as violence. The number of violent conflicts attributable to traditional disputes over the use of land escalated dramatically from the 1970s on.¹² In the mid-1980s, when the north-south Sudanese civil war broke out again after a 10-year hiatus, the government used Arab tribal militias as a means of keeping the southern rebels at bay in Darfur. As a result, ethnic identity started to become more politicised, feeding the escalation of conflicts over land issues with much more destructive fighting than in former times. In 2003 two Darfurian armed groups attacked military installations; the response of local governmentbacked militias was a further escalation with a campaign of ethnic cleansing, causing over 200,000 deaths and the displacement of over two million.

Thus climate change alone does not explain either the outbreak or the extent of the violence in Darfur. The other 16 countries in the Sahelian belt have felt the impact of global warming, including Mali and Chad (see Box 6), but only Sudan has experienced such devastating conflict. Darfur is, in fact, an exemplary case showing how the physical consequences of climate change interact with other factors to trigger violent conflict.

The conflict itself is taking a further toll of already scarce resources. Militias in Darfur are known for the intentional destruction of villages and forests. The loss of trees in these campaigns reduces the amount of shelter available for livestock and the amount of fuel wood for local communities. This threatens their livelihoods and results in their displacement, while simultaneously worsening the impact of desertification, which makes further conflict over land access more likely.

The massive scale of displacement in Darfur also has a serious impact on the environment. Camps for displaced people mean trees being felled for firewood. The consumption is greater in the many camps where manufacturing bricks is being taken up as a means for people to earn a living, encouraged by development organisations such as DFID. These camps can require up to 200 trees per day for brick-making.¹³ Over the weeks and months, combined with the wood needed for domestic use, this adds up to a rate of deforestation that renders the camps unsustainable.

Deforestation already extends as far as 18 kilometres from some camps, as people go further and further afield to find wood. Most of those who go to gather wood in this way are women and children, and this task makes them extremely vulnerable to continuing violence from the militia groups. The incidence of rape has risen as an inevitable result. As the wood runs out, the camps eventually have to move. This is not only hugely disruptive to the hundreds of thousands of camp inhabitants, but it is also detrimental to Darfur's existing problems of drought, desertification and disputes over land-use, which were contributory factors to the conflict from the outset. Secondly, when violent conflicts do break out, it is always against the background of a number of different factors interacting with one another. Poverty and poor governance are factors that frequently have a significant role as the background causes of violent conflict; a history of ethno-nationalist politics, environmental degradation and the legacy of previous armed conflicts are further such factors. If these are background causes, in the foreground lie the demands, grievances and positions of the contending parties and the behaviour and credibility of political leaders. It would be misleading to think that climate change alone will cause violent conflict; the problem, rather, lies in the interaction between the effects of climate change and these other factors.

Water

Climate change will significantly affect fresh water supply. Worldwide, over 430 million people currently face water scarcity, and the IPCC predicts that these numbers will rise sharply because climate change will affect surface water levels that are established by rainfall and glacial melting. In some situations, increased glacial melting will cause inland water levels to rise in the short term, followed by a downturn later, but the overall projected impact of climate change is that water scarcity will increase with time.

This will be especially problematic in middle-income countries making the transition from agricultural production to industry. Such states, of which the largest and most advanced in the process are India and China, face an urgent situation as their water resources are already stressed and depleting while demand is growing rapidly.

The conflict risk if water resources are inadequate lies in poor management that either wastes water by inappropriate use of it and inadequate conservation measures, or politicises the issue and seeks a scapegoat on which to blame shortages. Conflicting claims to water resources have been a feature of numerous conflicts as major rivers are very often shared between countries. The situation is particularly problematic when a militarily strong state or region is downstream to a militarily weaker state or region. China, India, Mexico, the Middle East, Southern Africa and Central Asia are among the countries and regions of the world that have been and are likely to be affected by violent conflict over water rights. Tensions over water rights and supply also can be worsened by development programmes that privatise control of the resource without looking after the rights of the poor.¹⁴

Agriculture

Temperature change and rainfall are decisive for crop and livestock production in the developing world. The IPCC prediction of a temperature rise of 1-3°C in the next 50 years in the global 'business as usual' scenario would mean crop yields falling in mid- to high-altitude regions. If this is borne out by events, regions most likely to be affected by decreasing crop yields include ones that are already prone to food insecurity, such as Southern Africa, Central Asia and South Asia.¹⁵ Studies in India have already seen rice and wheat production decrease as temperature increases, affecting the food security of agriculture-dependent communities.¹⁶ Projected sea-level rise from glacial melting will affect low-lying coastal areas with large populations, reducing the amount of cultivatable land across South Asia and in other areas around the world.

Any disruption in the agricultural sector can massively affect food security, especially for the poorer sections of society. Increased uncertainty about food supply will force communities to find alternative strategies, which often clash with the needs of other communities also facing increased livelihood pressure. In Africa's Sahel region, desertification is reducing the availability of cultivatable land, leading to clashes between herders and farmers. In Northern Nigeria, Sudan and Kenya, these clashes have become violent.¹⁷ The situation in Darfur is most notable (see Box 2).

Energy

14

Increasing energy consumption is a key reason for global warming but climate change will increase energy requirements in developing countries. Access to reliable, sustainable and affordable energy supplies is vital for development. For example, refrigeration allows local hospitals and clinics to store vital medicines safely; electricity is the basis of modern communications; power is needed to pump

BOX 3 Peru: Possible flashpoints over water shortages Peru's democracy has struggled since the mid-20th century as coups have repeatedly disrupted civilian rule. During the 1980s and '90s the rebel movement, *Sendero Luminoso*, was a persistent threat to the stability of the country, to which the government under then-President Fujimori reacted with increasing authoritarianism. But, since the elections in 2001, Peru has generally been perceived as a relatively strong democracy with capable institutions. Even so, uncertainty remains about political stability with renewed terrorist threats from insurgent groups in isolated pockets and continued disputes and tension along the borders with Chile¹⁸ and Ecuador. Meanwhile, the coca growers and drug traffickers continue to cause disruption.¹⁹

The main climate change concern for Peru is that its glaciers are melting. Glacial coverage has been reduced by 25 percent in the last three decades and it seems likely that all the Peruvian glaciers below 5,500 metres – which is most of them – will disappear by 2015. Glaciers are a vital source of Peru's water supply: two-thirds of Peru's 27 million people live on the coast, but natural springs in the area offer only 1.8 percent of the nation's water supply. So both farmers and city-dwellers rely on water from the glaciers for their livelihoods and for a constant drinking supply.

The first effect as the glaciers continue to melt will be a surfeit of water. It could seem like a bonanza but is unlikely to last long, and in any case will only be available with efficient water management and enough capacity in the reservoirs. With mounting population pressure the demand for water is increasing; local shortages are largely the result of political decisions governed by unequal power relations. Vulnerable groups, with a weak political voice, lose out to more powerful groups.

In the face of the predicted effects of climate change, resource management needs to be extremely careful not to provoke or exacerbate local tensions. Peru, like much of Latin America, is facing efforts towards privatisation of basic services such as water and energy. The reforms of the 1990s designed by the World Bank and the Inter-American Bank for the water and sanitation sector in Peru caused water enterprises to collapse into economic crisis, while workers and consumers suffered negative economic, public health and social effects.²⁰ International financial institutions such as the Inter-American Bank have further plans for privatising water and sanitation facilities in Peru.²¹

More recent moves to privatise the water sector have already created significant disputes. In March 2004 large numbers of the urban poor mobilised in protest against the privatisation of water in three cities in the state of La Libertad. Almost half of the residents of La Libertad had no running water, and under the newly privatised management, the services had deteriorated even further. The problems included increased contamination as raw sewage overflowed into irrigation ditches, while the average household only received water service 3-5 hours per day.

These are the sorts of conditions that will jeopardise the social contract between citizens and the state established by Peru's nascent democracy. The peaceful acceptance of such fetid conditions by citizens cannot long be taken for granted. Local media and NGOs convey a strong feeling of local-level resentment over such conditions. Even where private water supplies have improved water access, lack of sensitivity to local context and dynamics have seen conflicts arise between new water managers and those who previously supplied water, such as travelling water vendors.

To ease these disputes and thus reduce the risk of political instability and violent conflict, water management has to recognise the possibly explosive nature of the issue. Decisions about how to manage water supplies need to include an assessment of the potential conflict impact, a mapping out of stakeholders, a heavy emphasis on community consultations and transparency about the issues and decisions, tighter regulation of the water supply business, and compensation for communities whose water supply is affected.

water for irrigation and to bring water up from deep wells; and neither industrialisation nor urban development has so far been possible without large-scale energy consumption.

Because energy is such a key development resource, care has to be taken in shaping climate policy. Attempting to develop a strategy to mitigate climate change that includes reduced energy consumption for poor countries would reduce human security, increase poverty and threaten food security. Similarly, reducing energy consumption in middle-income countries would slow economic growth, make poverty reduction much harder to achieve, and generate very high risks of political instability and conflict.

At the same time, of course, meeting increased energy requirements on the basis of business as usual will simply make global warming worse as carbon emissions continue to rise. However, making the transition from fossil fuels to alternative energy sources is proving to be complicated even in rich states with stable, capable governments. It is even more difficult in poor states because the costs of making the transition are relatively higher (i.e., the transition will consume a larger share of scarce economic resources).

Adapting to the energy pressures created by climate change without negative consequences and at affordable costs is a major challenge. Failing to meet it will exacerbate the conflict potential in numerous countries.

Health

Climate change will pose significant risks to human health. Predicted increases in temperature and rainfall in certain regions are likely to increase the incidence of water-borne diseases such as cholera and malaria which, if unaddressed, could lead to epidemics. Large epidemics could impact the socioeconomic power balance and alter the relations between communities and countries based on availability of material resources to adapt. This could potentially lead to some level of instability or conflict.

Increased natural disasters such as storms and cyclones will lead to increased casualties, putting pressure on already stretched medical resources. Heat waves and water shortages will have an adverse impact on safe drinking water and sanitation that will disproportionately affect the poorest and most marginalised communities, including refugees and internally displaced people.

Failure by the state to provide for basic public health in fragile states is a fundamental factor that erodes the social contract between state and citizens which, in most cases, leads to increased political instability and, often times, violent conflict.

Migration and urbanisation

Faced with sudden shocks and with long-term challenges brought about or compounded by climate change, people will move. Taken world-wide, this migration is likely to be on a very large scale, for the basic living conditions of hundreds of millions of people will be influenced by climate change. Stern estimates the scale of migration to reach 200 million by 2050.²² Some movement will be from one rural community to another, by those hoping to maintain their old lifestyles in a new place. Some movement will be from rural areas where agrarian lifestyles have been overwhelmed by climate change, into urban centres to search for better livelihood options. Others still will cross borders in the hope that a new land will offer better prospects. In each case, those leaving non-viable areas will often migrate to areas that are already only barely viable. A significant part of this new trend of global migration will accelerate urbanisation, adding to urban poverty, conflict and, probably, criminality.

The indirect implications of climate change such as migration and urbanisation present a particular challenge, both to conventional approaches to conflict prevention and to adaptation strategies for

climate change. Migration in itself need not be a destabilising factor; it often benefits both those who move and the communities and countries into which they move. But the experience of many countries also shows that there is often great difficulty in accepting immigration. Problems arise particularly when those who already live in an area feel that newcomers are an unwanted burden. This is especially so when communities in search of new livelihood options move to areas that are only just viable. Their presence there can compound social pressures, as it has done in Assam and Bangladesh, for example.²³ In the case of urbanisation, it is noteworthy that even very rapid urbanisation has been managed without violent conflict in prosperous and politically stable nations such as Japan; it is not the process, but the context and the political response to violence and the political response has so often been inflammatory that migration has to be recognised as not only a likely consequence of climate change, but also as a major risk factor in the chain of effects that link climate change and violent conflict.

BOX 4 Bangladesh: Climate change, migration and conflict risks

The experience of Bangladesh illustrates some of the possible tensions that link climate-related migration to violent conflict. In the recent past, migration has led to violent conflict both within Bangladesh and in neighbouring regions of India.

Bangladesh has a growing population for whom there is not enough land available, and is vulnerable to severe effects from climate change. Part of the country's vulnerability lies in its topography: about half of Bangladesh is located only a few metres above sea level, and about a third is flooded in the rainy season. The Indian Farakka Barrage has made the problem worse over the past 30 years. Completed in 1975, close to the border with Bangladesh, the barrage diverts water from the Ganges River to its Indian tributary, reducing the flow of water in the Bangladeshi tributary. This disturbance to the natural balance of the large Ganges-Brahmaputra delta has caused several severe problems:

- salt water intrusion into Bangladeshi coastal rivers, reaching as far as 100 miles inland on occasion;
- consequent decline in river fishing;
- summer droughts, making the land less productive;
- loss of land to the sea because the reduced river flow meant less sediment was carried into the delta area to give it natural protection against the sea;
- worsened flooding when cyclones hit.

These problems directly affect about 35 million people,²⁵ exacerbating the effects of other features of rural life – including, not least, poverty, unequal land distribution and, among small farmers, economically inefficient systems of inheritance that divided land among family members into ever smaller plots.

Unable to make a living, many people have migrated. There have been two nearby destinations, as well as others much further afield. Since the 1950s, 12-17 million Bangladeshis have migrated to India (often illegally), attracted by the higher standard of living and lower population density, moving mostly to the adjacent states of Assam and Tripura.²⁶ And about 400,000-600,000 people have moved within Bangladesh to the Chittagong Hill Tracts (CHT), where they have cleared trees on the steep hillsides and begun farming, resulting in soil erosion and unsustainable livelihoods. In both the neighbouring Indian states and the CHT, there have been conflicts.

Chittagong Hill tribes in Bangladesh were involved in violent conflict with the state for two decades from 1973 until an agreement was reached in 1997. Among the grievances was the influx of people from the plains, whom the Chittagong tribes viewed as a threat. Bangladeshi migration to the north-east Indian region of Assam also contributed to social frictions. The natives resented the newcomers and accused them of stealing land. The immigrants' arrival affected the economy, land distribution and the balance of political power.²⁷ Violence first erupted in the early 1980s.

These problems continue and further migration as a result of climate change will make them worse. In Bangladesh these pressures combine with persistent political problems that have produced bomb attacks on civilian targets and pressure in some parts of the state for a State of Emergency to be declared. If local and national governments cannot develop measures to cope with the pressures on resources from migration and climate change, the risk of further and more intense violence is very high. Karachi, Pakistan's largest city, is projected to have a population of 19.4 million inhabitants by 2015. The city is already affected by political unrest, with high-profile acts of political violence in 2006. Located close to the coast and only eight metres above sea level, it is predicted to be seriously affected by rising sea levels by 2050.

Like most other mega-cities, Karachi has grown rapidly. The speed of its expansion, its weak governance and poor infrastructure mean that it cannot provide basic services to this growing population. For example, provision of sanitation systems in Karachi is meager: less than 20 percent of the city's population benefit from piped sewage.²⁸ Life for Karachi's poor is already affected by diseases spread by poor water supply and lack of sanitation, and they also face food insecurity, physical insecurity and limited options for securing their livelihoods. The consequences of rising sea levels, including flooding and disease, will aggravate these problems.

Karachi's social geography makes it a fertile ground for the mobilisation of young men by militant, violent political groups, often connected to the fast-growing number of unregulated *madrasas* (religious schools).²⁷ As climate change adds to the pressures of urban poverty, Karachi risks a serious increase in lawlessness, with further consequences for political stability in Pakistan and the region, and the risk of regional economic disruption because Karachi is a significant financial centre.

Climate change and global insecurity

Failure to help already stressed communities cope with the additional pressure to their livelihoods caused by climate change means that existing grievances will intensify and the risk of violent conflict will increase. Predictions are always uncertain but it is important to identify risks. Our research for the map in this chapter indicates that problems that will be induced or exacerbated by climate change will combine with other factors to create a high risk of armed conflict in 46 conflict-affected states. We identify a further 56 in which the burden of climate change consequences could induce serious political instability, putting them at risk of violent conflict in the long term.

The 46 countries facing a high risk of armed conflict are characterised by some combination of current or recent wars, poverty and inequality, and bad governance. The latter often involves corruption, arbitrary authority, poor systems of justice and weak institutions of government, causing deficiencies in economic regulation and basic services. The combination varies from place to place but all of them suffer from a lethal mix of different types of vulnerability and, consequently, have a high propensity to violent conflict. The armed conflicts that could ensue will probably be fought out with varying degrees of intensity and violence. Some wars kill hundreds of people, others kill hundreds of thousands.

The second group of 56 countries is not so immediately unstable but their government institutions may not be able to take the strain of climate change for a variety of reasons, including a record of arbitrary rule, recent transitions out of dictatorship and war, economic underdevelopment or instability, and lack of technical capacity to handle the issues.

BOX 5

Karachi:

Urbanisation,

climate change and violence

THE DOUBLE-HEADED RISK

The consequences of consequences of climate change include a high risk of armed conflict in 46 countries with a total population of 2.7 billion people, and a high risk of political instability in a further 56 countries with a total population of 1.2 billion.

EXICO

Map key:

- A: States facing a high risk of armed conflict as a knock-on consequence of climate change
- B: States facing a high risk of political instability as a knock-on consequence of climate change
- C: Other states

Technical note

The IPCC's Fourth Assessment Report of 2007 shows that global warming will have global effects, varying in both kind and degree.

Research for this report identified 102 $\operatorname{countries}^*$ as being at risk of significant negative knock-on sociopolitical effects, using three criteria for selection:

- 1. Their presence on a variety of international watch lists: the UK Department for International Development's 'proxy list' of Fragile States, the Global Peace Index ranking of 121 states (bottom 50 positions), the International Crisis Group 'crisiswatch' list, the World Bank's list of Low Income Countries Under Stress;
- 2. The presence of an operational UN peacekeeping force;
- 3. The prospect of, or their engagement in, economic or political transition (e.g., from autocracy towards democracy or leadership succession).

Within this group of 102, 46 countries were identified as facing a high risk of armed conflict. Primarily these are countries with current or recent experience of armed conflict, because this is a reliable indicator of propensity to further violence. In addition, particularly weak institutions of government and very poor economic performance were used as guides to the selection.

The larger map does not make predictions but indicates risk. It should be borne in mind that armed conflicts vary widely in their levels of lethality and in whether they occur at a local, national or regional level.

The smaller map shows countries' exposure to climate change, based on the A1 scenario (approximately "business as usual") used by the IPCC.

*A full listing of these countries can be found at the end of the references on page 44.

Governance matters

Political stability rests on the strength of the social contract between the government and its citizens. Citizens adhere to the law and pay taxes in return for the state providing for their basic needs, such as security and infrastructure.³⁰ When the state is perceived to be failing in its basic functions, this contract is eroded.³¹ And as the basic problems that government has to solve get deeper, because the demands for resources are becoming more desperate, so the task for government gets more difficult, and the likelihood that it will fail in its basic functions accordingly increases.

BOX 6 Mali and Chad: Similar threats, different likely outcomes

Mali and Chad lie along the same latitudes with large portions of their land area covered by the semi-arid Sahel. While they share many of the same bio-physical features, their economic and political situations are radically different, creating very different levels of vulnerability for the two countries.

Mali and Chad are heavily reliant on agriculture for foreign exchange through cotton exports, and for food for their populations. Neither country has a well-developed industrial sector; what industry there is focuses on agricultural processing. Both have significant, though under-developed, natural resources. There has been renewed interest in oil in Chad and it may become an important source of revenue for the government. There is potential for renewed and increased tension in both countries between the herders in the north and the farmers in the south as they all try to cope with dwindling water resources.

Despite these similarities, the two countries face radically different futures. Chad is struggling to maintain control as refugees from Sudan spill over its borders, bringing with them more violence and disruption. What international community is present in Chad is focused on emergency relief, and even many of those agencies are pulling out as the situation becomes more insecure. Chad's lack of infrastructure, especially roads, makes it very difficult to deliver aid or technical assistance. Investment in agricultural infrastructure has been minimal and Chad relies on rain-fed systems for food and cotton. The lack of transportation means that the cotton-growing regions also have to devote precious resources to growing food as well, as they cannot rely on importing food from elsewhere in the country or from abroad.

In contrast, Mali has an elected democracy whose reach extends beyond the capital to provide at least minimal services. During the 1990s, the country emerged from a debilitating civil war and the government took the lead in regional efforts to stop the proliferation of small arms and light weapons. The country is self-sufficient in food, at least when there is no drought. The international community is actively engaged in several sectors, and the US has selected Mali to be one of the beneficiaries of the Millennium Challenge Corporation account, which is only used for 'well performing' poor countries, and which thus highlights how well Mali is doing on various development indicators.

Even so, Mali is as exposed to the impacts of climate change as Chad. Both are likely to experience higher temperature, the expansion of the Sahel desert, and less rainfall during a shorter rainy season. All of these factors will have a heavy impact on the agricultural sectors and are likely to exacerbate existing tensions between herders in the north and farmers in the south.

Where the two countries may differ is in how they react. The food security situation of both countries will be an early indication of how the countries manage to adjust to the changing environment. Chad is already extremely food insecure, but a change for the worse in the climate could worsen an already dire situation. The pressure on resources may cause an increase of internally displaced peoples, in addition to forcing people to emigrate out of the country altogether, thereby increasing population stresses on other countries. The health of the livestock population will also be a key indicator for management. In previous droughts the country lost a great deal of livestock, crippling the livelihoods of a large portion of the population. Lake Chad is also disappearing rapidly due to declining rainfall and increased demand for its water, in addition to other variations in climate patterns.³²

Mali's relatively good governance, economic performance and political stability since the civil war ended in 1995 all suggest that it is much better placed than Chad to respond in an effective and timely way to the challenge of climate change, by adapting crops, and preparing to handle potential resource conflicts through traditional mediation. This issue is crucial for two reasons: first, because the decisions that governments take can be extremely important in either moderating or accelerating the social impact of climate change; second, because some state functions are particularly important in relation to the risk of violent conflict. These functions include the provision of primary health care and education, the safeguarding of human rights and democratic systems, and the maintenance of an accountable and effective security sector, including police, army and judiciary.³³ In the event of climate change, an already weak government may find itself unable to meet these basic needs, and one of the consequences of that is an increased risk of violent conflict.

In addition, violent conflict can severely limit the ability of governments to assist in adaptation. Poor governance, combined with other factors, can explain why similarly bad droughts in both Ethiopia and Hungary led to violence only in Ethiopia, and why tropical storms in Haiti and the Dominican Republic led to violence only in Haiti.³⁴

It is not poverty alone but uncertainty and the perceived threat of future insecurity that increase the risk of violent conflict.³⁵ Further, some research indicates that the risk of poverty or its sudden onset also increases the likelihood of individuals joining an armed group.³⁶ The influence of climate change will be felt as more frequent storms and natural disasters not only cause loss of life and homes, but more generally cause uncertainty and long-term decline in the possibility of maintaining secure livelihoods. In the developed world, these uncertainties and risks can be absorbed by the state's welfare mechanisms and insurance systems. However, in states where such safety nets are already under immense pressure, or do not exist at all due to underdevelopment, weak governance and/or conflict (most notably in countries affected by conflict), the risk of instability cannot be dealt with in this way.

Key risks

This overview of the double-headed problem of climate change and violent conflict reveals a number of key risks that have to be addressed through new policies:

Political instability: Weak governance structures underlie the problem of vulnerability to the impact of climate change. Weak governance is one of the key links in the chain of *consequences of consequences*. Climate change will put increased pressure on basic state functions such as the provision of basic health care and the guarantee of basic food security. Failed states, fragile states and states in transition, where such institutions either do not exist or are already unable to provide for the basic needs of their citizens, are particularly at risk.

Economic weakness: Economic instability will leave communities highly vulnerable, both to sudden environmental shocks and slow erosion of their livelihood security. The socio-political impacts of climate change will affect poor countries more than further developed states. Poorer countries, which tend to be agrarian states, will be far more susceptible to falling crop yields, extreme weather events and migratory movements. In poorer countries, there is no insurance, either private or state-based, against the effects of crop failure. These impacts of climate change will hinder economic development and the lack of economic development hinders the ability to adapt to climate change. Empirical studies show that poor countries facing additional pressures are more prone to conflict. Climate change can thus increase obstacles to economic development, worsening poverty and thereby increasing the risk of violent conflict is these states.

Food insecurity: In many areas, the physical effects and the socio-political consequences of climate change will combine to have a profound and destabilising effect on ordinary people's daily lives by reducing food security. The problem here is not simply food shortages but uncertainty of food supply.

This may be the result of losing arable land to desert and of shorter growing seasons, but can equally be caused by changes in the food supply chain, such as the loss of roads through flooding (and in other places, the loss of rivers through persistent drought). Political instability and violent conflict also have an effect on food security. Humanitarian assistance can temporarily fill in when there are food shortages but cannot address the underlying problem of lack of food security – and it is only when food security is restored that people can feel safe. In the absence of food security, conflict and migration are almost inevitable consequences.

Demographic changes – migration and urbanisation: Demographic changes always entail a change in power systems and resource allocation. Climate-change-related movements of people will place strain on host communities that already have scarce resources, whether because of population growth, government policy or as an effect of climate change itself. In such circumstances, there is a higher risk of violent conflict. Some of the world's mega-cities are on the coast and are themselves at risk over time from rising sea levels. The combination of population growth, inward migration, declining water supply, other basic shortages and rising sea levels in a city of 15-20 million or more inhabitants adds up to a challenge with which even the most effective city and national government would find hard to cope. Where governance is poor, a social disaster seems close to inevitable.

THE UNIFIED SOLUTION

The double-headed problem of climate change and violent conflict has a unified solution. The capacities that communities need in order to adapt to the consequences of climate change are very similar to those they need in order to reduce the risk of violent conflict. Addressing one part of the problem in the right way is itself a means of addressing the other part. Indeed, climate change offers an opportunity for peacebuilding: in divided communities, climate change offers a threat to unite against; the need for adaptation offers a task on which to cooperate.

The community is the vital level for action to adapt to and meet climate change but international cooperation is also essential. Climate change and its physical consequences do not respect national borders so policy and action to address the problem must be developed internationally. This truth has formed the cornerstone of efforts to mitigate climate change for two decades already.

The knock-on socio-economic consequences do not respect national borders either. Large-scale migration, loss of economic output, loss of livelihood security, increased political instability and greater risk of violent conflict will all have consequences that cross national borders. The logic that promotes international cooperation for mitigation works in the same direction when it comes to adaptation.

Furthermore, in many countries that face the double-headed problem, the government is going to be either unwilling or unable – or both – to take on the task of adaptation and peacebuilding. In many of the countries most at risk, the government – and more than that, the system of governance – is part of the problem. The task of helping communities adapt to climate change cannot be left to such governments. There is no alternative except international cooperation to support local action.

Why the international community should act

There are two central motives that should drive international efforts to address the double-headed problem we have identified: the first is to maintain international peace and security; the second, linked to the first, is to support sustainable development.

To maintain international peace and security: The UK government initiated a debate on security and climate change at the UN Security Council in April 2007. There was considerable resistance to this from other governments and it could not be said afterwards that many other governments had been convinced by the UK's arguments. But the very fact that the UN Security Council was used in this way signalled that climate change is beginning to be considered an issue of international security. The London-based International Institute of Strategic Studies, in its

annual *Strategic Survey* in 2007, similarly identified climate change as a major issue of international security and argued that this would become more widely understood as the effects of climate change begin to bite.³⁷

Where the inability to adapt to climate change combines with other stresses to produce violent conflict, neighbouring states and the international community will be affected, not least through the flight of refugees. Even viewed through a narrow economic prism, the cost of a civil war is far higher than the cost of adaptation, so any reluctance in the international community to invest in the adaptation needs of poor communities would be a false economy.

More broadly viewed, a world that is forced into belated efforts to adapt to climate change is almost certainly one in which rivalries between states escalate. Without going into speculative scenarios, the risks that the world faces in relation to climate change will include increased insecurity – unless climate change is treated as an opportunity and becomes the occasion for enhanced cooperation. That is a strong motive for timely international cooperation.

To support sustainable development: The international community has already acknowledged that failure to take climate change into account in development policies and strategies will threaten the achievement of international development goals to reduce poverty and increase literacy and health.³⁸ Similarly, not paying attention to climate issues in development and peacebuilding can worsen tensions over resources and increase the risk of violent conflict. For example, in Liberia, UN-led programmes are retraining ex-combatants in agricultural skills and reintegrating them into farming communities. According to IPCC projections, however, the region will face a 50 percent cut in crop yields by 2020.³⁹ Unless the techniques taught are appropriate for the changed environment of the near future – techniques such as half moon planting and water harvesting, for example – the new livelihood opportunities for ex-combatants will be wiped out well within their working lifetime. The existence of unemployed and frustrated ex-combatants is widely regarded as a contributory factor to violent conflict,⁴⁰ and violent conflict holds back economic development. But ensuring that development and peacebuilding programmes are sensitive to climate change will bolster or even foster local adaptation and reduce the risk of climate change contributing to violent conflict.

Regional cooperation

It is not only at the level of the UN that international cooperation is relevant. While the world body's role is crucial, it needs to be supplemented by regional and sub-regional bodies such as the African Union and the Organisation of American States, and sub-regional organisations such as the Economic Community of West African States, the Association of South East Asian Nations, and the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation. Like the EU, but with much less wealth and economic power at their disposal, these bodies represent the common interests of their member states in stability, security and growing trade and prosperity. They can often provide a forum for concerns and a mechanism of support for their members that are closer to the actual concerns of the states involved and less likely to be experienced as an outside threat than, for example, action initiated at the UN level or undertaken by rich northern governments. They could therefore have greater effectiveness and legitimacy in helping develop responses to some of the key risks in the knock-on consequences of climate change.

Some of the measures of adaptation mentioned later in this chapter, such as building stocks of agricultural products as an economic reserve, developing new crop techniques and systems, or identifying post-disaster re-employment opportunities, might be best developed on a regional or sub-regional basis. Significant numbers of states lack the capacity or the economic resources to make these preparations alone but could play a part in a cooperative system.

Some of the difficult issues of migration could perhaps also be best handled through cooperation at the regional level, developing a framework not only of law, but of interlocking claims and duties on and for one another.

A role for the private sector

The responsibility is not just with governments and inter-governmental organisations. The private sector also has a role to play. International companies operating in at-risk countries have both an interest and a responsibility in safeguarding their investments by working together with governments and communities on adaptation. At a national and local level, again, there is both a company interest and a responsibility to be part of adaptation. Local communities, after all, include small and medium-sized companies, local producers and traders.

Many corporations are already making steps towards sustainable and environmentally friendly business practices. Many companies have developed corporate social responsibility policies that aim to minimise the adverse impacts of the companies' on the social environments around them. However, without adequate information on the socio-economic consequences of climate change, some of these well-intentioned policies could actually restrict the adaptation options of some communities in the near future. For example, promoting fair trade coffee is an important step towards generating better conditions for coffee farmers. Yet the predicted increase in temperature of 2°C will dramatically decrease the amount of land suitable for growing coffee.⁴¹ If more farmers were to go into coffee production because they were guaranteed a fair price, and if there were to be no planning for alternative livelihood strategies when climate change strikes, the long-term effect could be harmful.

Well-informed, climate-aware and context-specific business practices, on the other hand, have the scope to provide new adaptation options such as new livelihood opportunities or strengthened infrastructure. For example, if different crops are to be farmed, it is essential that there is efficient distribution of the seeds and of the products – a role for the private sector. Establishing quick re-employment options after drought or extreme weather also offers a role for private companies.

At a different level, business practice should be climate-sensitive, not only in terms of reducing carbon emissions and thus attempting to address the long-term roots of the problem, but also in terms of supporting adaptation to address the short and medium-term consequences. This can involve not only the obvious companies, such as those in energy and transport, but others, such as the finance sector, which is capable of transforming into practical commercial considerations the argument in the 2006 *Stern Review* that responding constructively to climate change is economically beneficial. Adaptation will require investment, and in some cases will be suitable for private sector investment.

Complexities of cooperation

There is already a considerable international agenda for cooperation on the issue of climate change. For many observers and especially for environmental activists, this agenda does not go nearly far enough on mitigation. But the perspective advanced here is different: important though it is to mitigate global warming, examining the interrelationship between climate change and the risk of armed conflict leads to the conclusion that adaptation needs more attention and more action. Some academic commentators have pointed to 'the long-standing unease in the policy community with regard to adaptation'.⁴² Though adaptation does feature on the international agenda, it is mitigation that takes the lion's share of the headlines and the policy initiatives. It is time to recognise that while mitigation is essential, its benefits will come slowly and, in the meantime, adaptation is urgent.

BOX 7 Current frameworks and action on climate change adaptation

INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORKS

UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC): International efforts to tackle climate change are primarily pursued through the UNFCCC. The UNFCCC is an international environmental treaty produced at the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, known as the Earth Summit, held in Rio de Janeiro in 1992. The parties to the UNFCCC meet annually; the December 2007 meeting in Bali is the 13th Conference of Parties. The UNFCCC acts as an umbrella for international dialogue, policy and funding on climate change. Its overarching mandate, stated in article 2 of the Convention, is to limit greenhouse gas levels to a 'level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system'. Under this framework, mitigation of climate change dominates the agenda, with most funding and policy attention geared towards the future of the Kyoto Protocol and a number of separate initiatives.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): The IPCC is the most authoritative source of internationally accepted scientific assessments. These assessments feed into the UNFCCC process and constitute its scientific basis. However, though based on pure science, the reports of the IPCC are produced through intense political negotiation, especially over the confidence with which future effects are predicted, and concerning the analysis of how observed features of climate change are caused. The Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) from the IPCC has come out during 2007 and is more far-reaching in its socio-political analysis of the impacts of climate change than its predecessors. Working Group II of the IPCC, in particular, has looked more closely at the climate impacts and vulnerabilities of fragile communities than in previous reports. However, it is not the role of the IPCC to provide an assessment of the likely impacts of climate change on violent conflict, so the issue of conflict and peacebuilding potential is not explored in the AR4.

UN International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (ISDR): The ISDR was set up to coordinate approaches at a local, national and international level with the aim of building disaster-resilient communities by promoting increased awareness of the importance of disaster reduction as an integral component of sustainable development. The Hyogo Framework for Action (HFA): This is a 10year action framework (2005-2015) for disaster risk reduction. Its three aims are to: integrate disaster risk reduction into sustainable development policies and planning at all levels, with emphasis on disaster planning, mitigation, preparedness and vulnerability reduction; develop and strengthen institutions, mechanisms and capacities at all levels; and to systematically incorporate risk reduction approaches into the implementation of emergency preparedness, response and recovery programmes.

Neither the ISDR nor the HFA was designed to address directly the issues posed by climate change and conflict but they provide useful frameworks to guide and monitor action. However, these frameworks are only as effective as their implementation. NGOs are already finding that action around the HFA is highly top-down and does not sufficiently include local actors.

Global Environment Facility (GEF): Multilateral funding for climate change is mainly channelled through the GEF, a funding agency established in 1991. While most funding for climate change over the last decade has been for mitigation, the GEF has recently set up four new funds for adaptation in developing countries. However, one barrier to using these funds is the GEF rules, which state that they can only be used for the 'incremental costs of global benefits'. While it is relatively easy to calculate the costs of global benefits arising from mitigation projects, it is more difficult to do so for adaptation projects as benefits are usually local rather than global. The four funds are:

- The Least Developed Countries Fund: This fund is only for those countries classified as LDCs. It therefore excludes many middle-income countries that also face the risk of instability or violent conflict in the face of climate change. It is reliant on voluntary contributions for funding. Since its launch in 2001, the LDC fund has attracted \$120 million in pledges, but only \$48 million has been received as of April 2007.
- The Special Climate Change Fund: This is for adaptation planning and technology transfer in all developing countries and is reliant on voluntary contributions for funding. As of April 2007, \$62 million has been pledged, and \$41 million has been received.
- The Strategic Priority on Adaptation: A three-year

initiative to pilot adaptation capacity-building measures, funded by \$50 million from GEF Trust Funds.⁴³

 The Adaptation Fund: This is intended to fund actual adaptation measures in developing countries. It is not yet operational; the plan is to fund it from CDM credits, amounting to an estimated \$1 billion over the next five years. Of the 13 countries that have submitted their NAPAs to the UNFCCC, the total cost of projects proposed to meet only the immediate adaptation needs is \$330 million. Factor in the long-term costs, and the 89 other countries in need of assistance, and it is evident that this fund is just a drop in the ocean of what is required.

The cost of adaptation is still hugely underresearched and so an estimate of how much is needed is difficult to discern. However, the World Bank has produced a preliminary estimate that it will cost approximately \$10-40 billion to climate-proof investments in the developing world.⁴⁴ Even judged against the lower estimates, the pledges received to date are massively inadequate.

At the same time as noting the relative paucity of funds available for adaptation, it is important to add that the international donor community does not only need to spend additional money, it also needs to change the way it meets its current commitments for expenditure on development and peacebuilding. These activities need to be climate-proofed – i.e., the way that development and peacebuilding money is spent has to alter if the challenge of climate change is to be met. This should take an important place on the international agenda, starting with the December 2007 Conference of Parties of the UNFCCC (CoP 13) in Bali.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation & Development (DECD): One forum that has begun looking at integrating the development, peacebuilding and climate adaptation strands is the OECD. The Development Assistance Committee (DAC) is extending the chapter on Environment and Resources in the OECD's *Guidelines for Conflict Prevention* to take account of climate change. And the DAC Network on Conflict, Peace and Development Cooperation is researching the links between the environment, conflict and peace, issuing briefs and specific assessments on land, water, valuable minerals and forests.⁴⁵ The OECD's Working Party on Global and Structural Policy has also recently set up a Climate and Development Project where climate change and conflict are intended to be addressed with strong participation from developing countries.

AT THE REGIONAL LEVEL

The European Commission (EC): The EC is developing a global monitoring system for environment and security in 2008 as part of the European Strategy for Space.⁴⁶ This monitoring measure is intended to oversee implementation of the Kyoto Protocol; it will largely benefit mitigation, rather than adaptation. There are also discussions about the need to link climate change to broader security and development policy strategies and the EC is establishing a new Global Climate Change Alliance between the EU and other vulnerable developing countries.

Apart from the EC, there do not appear to be major regional initiatives addressing adaptation and even the EC is only now coming to this issue.

AT THE NATIONAL LEVEL

National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs): Under the framework of the UNFCCC, the core instrument for addressing adaptation by countries at the national level is through NAPAs. The idea of a NAPA is to provide a process For Least Developed Countries to identify priority activities that respond to their urgent needs for adapting to climate change. To date, 22 states have drawn up a NAPA47, and 13 have submitted them to the UNFCCC. In theory, NAPAs take into account existing coping strategies at the grass-roots level, and build upon them to identify priority activities, rather than focusing on scenariobased modelling to assess future vulnerability and long-term policy at state level. However, the process of drafting the NAPAs so far seems to rest more on assistance from donors such as the World Bank and the UN Environmental Programme rather than on participation from community groups and civil society. The NAPAs have an evident potential for integrating peacebuilding and development concerns with adaptation to climate change, but it is too soon to tell whether actual steps are being taken in this direction. In the absence of an effort to integrate the plans and action, the risk is that NAPAs will become just another box for poor governments to tick on the way to getting some funding.

Trade-offs and synergies between adaptation and mitigation

The IPCC's AR4 notes the risk of an unwelcome trade-off between adaptation and mitigation because resources committed to one are not available for the other. As far as the poorest countries are concerned, the fact is that their carbon emissions have been marginal compared to industrial countries and, more recently, the fast developing middle-income countries. Africa as a whole, home to 14 percent of the world's population, is responsible for 3.6 percent of global carbon dioxide emissions while, to take a random example, Australia has 0.32 percent of the world's population, yet produces 1.43 percent of carbon dioxide emissions.⁴⁸ With the exceptions of Libya, the Seychelles, Nigeria and South Africa, African countries emit only 0.5 tonnes of carbon dioxide per capita each year. By comparison, as the world's largest emitter, the USA emits over 20 tonnes per capita, ⁴⁹ For poor and politically unstable countries facing the combined risk of climate change and conflict, therefore, there is not much to gain by concentrating scarce resources onto mitigation, and however heroic their efforts, they will not make much of a dent in global emission levels. From the perspective both of the individual countries and of the international community as a whole, the priority need in the poorest countries is for adaptation.

An additional trade-off between mitigation and adaptation policies has been less discussed. In some circumstances, measures to reduce GHG emissions risk actually hindering adaptation. For example, among the World Bank's activities in Sri Lanka is the new Renewable Energy for Rural Development Project⁵⁰ which aims – among other strategies – to strengthen the national grid through support for privately owned mini-hydroelectricity plants and other renewable energy projects. It is likely to divert scarce water supplies from communities' consumption and agricultural needs. That risks weakening food security at a time when, as part of adaptation to climate change, it should be strengthened. It also risks fostering social tensions because of local resentment towards development initiatives that misfire. Similarly, in Cochabamba, Bolivia, making water into a marketable commodity by contracting water provision out to the private sector pushed up prices and led to violent protests in January to April 2000, with over 100 people injured.⁵¹

The limits of carbon trading

Carbon trading is one of the key ways in which states are attempting to address the problem of climate change at the international level. Most carbon trading schemes are registered with the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM), an arrangement under the Kyoto Protocol allowing industrialised countries that have committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions to invest in projects that cut emissions in developing countries as an alternative to more costly emissions reductions in their own countries.

Mitigation is self-evidently important and carbon trading has long been seen as a productive way of doing it but, recently, a number of concerns have arisen around the CDM. A study by *Nature* in 2007⁵² revealed that the CDM was becoming a lucrative industry where companies were paid as much as 50 times more than it cost to reduce emissions. Further investigations have found that there are loopholes allowing for spurious credits to be awarded. There is evidence that the majority of CDM projects would have happened anyway – in other words, companies were simply using the CDM to generate extra income. There were even cases of projects being retrospectively given the CDM tag. Thus, the CDM was not acting as an incentive for new environmentally responsible activities.⁵³

Among other problems, the CDM's failure to take account of poverty is concerning. Most CDM projects are in countries undergoing rapid industrialisation and very few are in Africa; in 2005, these accounted for only seven projects in all, 2 percent of the total (and, of these, five were in South Africa).⁵⁴ The real problem, however, is the risks entailed in some of the projects. For example, a World Bank landfill gas project in Durban, South Africa, is actively opposed by most local communities because of its adverse health effects.⁵⁵ If the effort is made to mitigate climate change in this way, pursued at the expense of the needs and well-being of local communities, there is a risk of

social instability. In regions that are already unstable and face a myriad of other pressures, failure to take account of conflict dynamics can contribute to an escalation of such instability into violence.

The problem of maladaptations

The IPCC's Working Group on Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability has rightly noted the importance of addressing climate change adaptation in fragile states, especially where these responses are so-called 'no regrets' policies – that is, policies that turn out to be of benefit to a community whether or not the predicted climate change impacts occur.

The IPCC warns against the risks of what it calls *maladaptations*, which are the result of responses to climate change that lack foresight about climatic or relevant social trends.⁵⁶ However, the IPCC draws a problematic conclusion when it argues that this means there should be more emphasis on mitigation to prevent future maladaptations that would increase the costs of climate impacts. It would be equally possible to turn this the other way around and say that the problem of what might be called *mismitigation* – as outlined above – means there should be less emphasis on mitigation for fear it will go wrong.

The solution is to ensure that maladaptation does not occur at all. In fragile states, this would mean ensuring that policies on climate change are sensitive to conflict risks and, at the same time, ensuring that peacebuilding and development take account of the consequences of the consequences of climate change. In essence, the process entails incorporating adaptation into peacebuilding in a manner that takes account of future vulnerabilities to climate change.

Ensuring the approach is evidence-based

The issue of maladaptation shows that the need is not only to give more attention to adaptation but to make sure it is effective – more of the right kind of adaptation. To this end, examples such as those from Bolivia, Sri Lanka and South Africa show the importance of basing adaptation policies on solid knowledge about local circumstances, including anticipated climate change impact and a thorough contextual analysis.

There are two problems with this – one is time. Such work will take two to five years to complete. Meanwhile, the effects of climate change are already unfolding. The response, therefore, must be incremental. Peacebuilding will help develop the adaptive capacities of communities so they can use the research findings as they come through. In the meantime, peacebuilding and development must be as climate-sensitive as existing knowledge allows, recognising that this knowledge will deepen as time goes by.

The second problem is the risk that the approach to conducting, reporting and using research will be technocratic, top-down and alienating. To ordinary people it will feel like outside experts coming and telling them how things are, how they should live and what they should do. The likelihood is they will ignore this advice or, if necessary, fight it.

A different way of working is possible, grounded in a peacebuilding approach. This emphasises the importance of local knowledge and seeks the active participation of local communities in working out how best to adapt to climate change. While much of the technical knowledge, such as complex climate modelling, would of necessity need to be transferred from states with more advanced research and development capacity, figuring out what to do could and should be an inclusive and participatory process. Where communities are divided because of the experience or risk of violent conflict, addressing these problems could, in fact, provide the occasion for developing a practical, problem-solving dialogue through which cooperative relationships could be established and steadily built up. The aim, in short, is to bring hard science and local knowledge together.

Peacebuilding

'Peacebuilding' means societies equipping themselves to manage conflicts without resorting to violence. It looks different in different contexts – the detailed activities range from local dialogues promoting reconciliation to advocacy that shapes economic policy and business practices. The key is to understand that it is not possible to build peace for people and communities that have been involved in violent conflict; rather, those people and communities must build peace for themselves. It is, however, possible for outsiders to help and participate in that process.

Peace is sustainable only if it is based on a social process in which citizens participate as equals. In general, they will do this only when they see that the peace process offers justice, economic equity and progress, security and good governance. These are the foundations of peacebuilding which, in the long term, are the basis for strong and responsive institutions of government. Peacebuilding is thus holistic, acting on all aspects of a society's security, socio-economic foundations, political frameworks, justice systems, and traditions of reconciliation to strengthen the factors that can contribute to peace. And peacebuilding is also inclusive of all actors and perspectives, including those who are frequently marginalised or excluded.

Peacebuilding works – but it works slowly. It was well over a decade before the peace process in Northern Ireland was regarded by most observers as relatively stable – from the IRA's ceasefire declaration in 1994 to the return to a power-sharing government in 2007 – and the violence in Northern Ireland, though painful and protracted, was relatively low-level by international standards, while the peace process was lavishly funded by comparison with other cases. Peace in Bosnia-Herzegovina has taken a similarly long period to secure, and the process is by no means completed. In Burundi in 2007, there remain elements of risk in the peace process that was initiated in 2000. Peacebuilding takes patience and care and, in its early years, is extremely precarious because it takes far fewer people acting irresponsibly to return a country to violence than are needed to work together to sustain the peace. Yet peacebuilding can transform societies into functional communities that can exist without the threat of violent conflict – a process that we see unfolding in Liberia today.

In Liberia, the key need to which International Alert has been able to contribute is communication as the basis for social participation in the peace process. In Burundi, where Alert has been working since 1995 when civil war was intense, the organisation was able to work at several levels. Alert provided space for political and community leaders to meet, develop mutual confidence and jointly develop ideas for moving the country onto a peaceful path. Alert also worked with civil society activists to help found a national women's peace organisation that, acting as an umbrella for local women's groups, has trained over 10,000 people in conflict resolution, mediation and facilitation. In the Democratic Republic of Congo, Alert has recently developed a programme bringing together people from different regions into a national dialogue on how to sustain peace and human rights in a country that, from the colonial period until recently, knew only dictatorship and war. In the South Caucasus, several Alert projects help people come together and exchange ideas across entrenched lines of conflict, helping to develop social foundations for possible future peace deals.

These activities cannot make peace by themselves, but nor can peace be made without them. A sustainable peace requires a peace agreement between the leaders of the contending parties, their continuing commitment to it after signature, and a social setting to support it and encourage political leaders' continued commitment. The problem that peacebuilding addresses is that, through the experience of violent conflict, societies lose the capacity to resolve difficult issues peacefully. Variously, they lose the institutions that can mediate and negotiate disputes and differences before they get out of hand, and they lose the cultural habits of compromise and tolerance that are required for serious differences to be settled by agreement. Helping societies regain these attributes is what peacebuilding is about.

The way peacebuilding is implemented has to be tailored to the needs of the specific context. Each society and community has its own modes and values. Because the point of peacebuilding is to help societies renew the attributes of a peaceful society, it cannot work on the basis of a top-down recipe. It has to support and enhance the efforts and energies of ordinary people, to develop a process from the ground up so as to ensure that the opportunity offered by a formal peace agreement is seized and lasting peace is created.

Linking peacebuilding and climate adaptation

In one sense, adaptation to climate change could take many forms, some of them profoundly destructive. If good land for farming or grazing becomes scarce, it could be said that when one group attacks another to drive it away, that is a form of adaptation. Likewise, if the pressures of climate change lead large

Liberia suffered extreme violent conflict and arbitrary dictatorship from 1980 to 2003. The causes of conflict are deeply rooted in historically entrenched inequalities in the distribution of power and a reliance on violence to gain wealth and power.

Almost half of Liberia's population of 3.1 million lives in the capital, Monrovia. Many areas outside the city are inaccessible by road and remain isolated. Politicians and civil servants spend little or no time in those regions, and few of the legal and developmental changes initiated in the capital are experienced in rural areas. This marginalisation can express itself in feelings of apathy and a reinforcement of the culture of impunity.

In October 2005, two years after the fighting ended, Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf was elected President. Liberia is now in the process of consolidating peace, although the situation remains volatile. The country carries a heavy burden of debt, while an influx of returning refugees and internally displaced people to rural regions exacerbates land disputes between ethnic groups. Liberia also faces the problem of its bad neighbourhood: regional instability repeatedly threatens to destabilise the peace process.

Given the real and perceived inequalities between those living in the capital city and those in rural areas, it is vital that communication be enhanced in rural Liberia. International Alert has been working in Liberia since 1993 and its current work focuses on the issues of communication and participation. The aim is to enable groups who feel marginalised and alienated to articulate their views, needs and rights through the media rather than resorting to violence. Alert also works to ensure that journalists are trained in responsible reporting. In addition, we are using community radio to improve access to impartial and balanced information in the eight most conflict-affected counties of Liberia, so that people there understand the ever-changing political situation and feel able to engage with processes originating in Monrovia.

Alongside this work, Alert and our Liberian NGO partners have organised three popular annual Peace and Culture Festivals, bringing together performers and cultural troupes, along with members of local communities, from the eight counties and the neighbouring countries of Cote d'Ivoire, Guinea and Sierra Leone. The 2007 festival was attended by an estimated 10,000 people. These festivals use cultural activities - comedy, drama, music and dance - to bring people together and help heal the divisions that have been created by years of violence. They serve as a reminder that Liberians from different parts of the country and people from the neighbouring countries have cultures that, while significantly different, nevertheless share many core values, including powerful modes of communication and a strong sense of community. Both need to be mobilised over an extended period of time to build a sustainable peace.

The Liberia Media Project is part of a wider strategy to build sustainable peace in Liberia and the sub-region through communicating messages about peacebuilding and reconciliation. The combination of traditional and contemporary communication mechanisms can enable media to represent local people who, in turn, feel more empowered in their society and are more likely to resolve differences peacefully. Across the sub-region, communication and improved access to information can have a powerful effect on conflicts that spill across borders and threaten areas of stability. BOX 8 Liberia: Peacebuilding works numbers of people to leave their homes and migrate to urban slums, that also is a form of adaptation. But what people want and need are forms of adaptation that protect human security.

Successful adaptation to climate change will still involve changes in how people live. The key to linking peacebuilding and adaptation with climate change is to ask how people can best change the way they live. What is the best process of change – that is, the process that offers the greatest opportunity to cope peacefully with the challenge of climate change and adapt to it in a way that protects people's well-being? It is, surely, a process that simultaneously meets two objectives: it needs to be based on a proper appreciation of the challenge – i.e., it needs to be scientifically informed; and it needs to be a process that thoroughly involves the people whose lives will change so they shape it and buy into it. For this to be the case, the people involved in the process must understand the problem (so the science must be communicated clearly), see what the options are, gauge the impact of inaction, and choose to change. This approach acknowledges that local knowledge alone is not enough because climate change throws up unprecedented problems, but nor is the best hard science enough by itself, because adaptation needs to be locally grounded and culturally appropriate.

These considerations are even more important when looking at one of the most difficult problems thrown up by climate change and one where some of the greatest fears are likely to reside – migration. As we have argued earlier, as many examples have shown, migration itself does not generate violent conflict, yet it can be an important part of the chain of effects leading to violent conflict because of the responses it so often gets and because of the context. When people find a large number of newcomers arriving, the key issue is to try to develop a common understanding of what the problem is, why it has come about, and then what can be done about it in a way that most meets everybody's needs. The best time to have this discussion is before the pressures of immigration have become intolerable. Research, good information systems and clear government and inter-governmental policies are all essential. But perhaps more important than anything is a commitment to timely dialogue in, with and between the communities that are affected - both those who are forced to migrate by the physical effects of climate change, and those who become hosts to the new migrants. The political issues wrapped up in this part of the climate change problem are extremely tangled, with competing resentments about who benefits from any resources that can be mobilised, and the risk that the question will be politicised in an inflammatory way. To leave such a potentially explosive set of issues alone, however, is to risk that explosion occurring.

The best process of change for a successful adaptation to climate change, in short, is the same as the processes involved in peacebuilding. In both, energies must be engaged in different parts of society – among communities and their leaders, in the private sector, media, political groups, social activists, students and intellectuals – and at different levels – among the elite and among ordinary people. In both, the process must include women as well as men, youth as well as mature adults, minorities as well as majority communities, and it must cross political divides as well. The techniques that will be used are also the same: encouraging dialogue; building confidence; addressing the issues that divide groups and out of which they perceive conflicts to grow; learning; mutual education; developing and strengthening civil society organisations to carry the work forward; strengthening both the capacity and the accountability of the institutions of government.

The processes of peacebuilding and adaptation are not only similar in these ways, they are also synergistic. A society that can develop adaptive strategies for climate change in this way is well equipped to avoid armed conflict. And a society that can manage conflicts and major disagreements over serious issues without a high risk of violence is well equipped to adapt successfully to the challenge of climate change.

There could be a further linkage, because climate change could become a reason for moving on from some of the attitudes and behaviour that were generated by the experience of armed conflict. International Alert has supported dialogues in conflict countries that bring together people who have very different and incompatible perspectives but who share an understanding of the risks and unbearable costs of continuing with (or returning to) open, armed conflict. In the same way, dialogues could bring together people whose different and incompatible perspectives do not prevent them from understanding the common threat of climate change and the shared need to adapt to meet this challenge. It is, seen in one light, no more complicated than adding another crucial item to the agenda of peaceful dialogue. But because it cannot be blamed on one conflicting party over another, and yet it affects all, climate change may have more power for bringing people together than much of the rest of the agenda. Climate change could generate a pragmatic unity because it offers a threat that can put other problems in perspective. And adaptation to climate change offers tasks that can be the object of cooperation between formerly antagonistic groups.

Developing social resilience

Climate adaptation and peacebuilding need comprehensively to address the key risks faced by fragile states affected by climate change. These risks, as outlined at the end of chapter 2 of this report, are political instability, economic weakness, food insecurity and demographic changes such as migration and urbanisation. The measures that are adopted and the way they are implemented have to target not just these four issues but the linkages between them. Awareness of these risks will help national governments and donor agencies develop programmes for the linked goals of development, peacebuilding and adaptation. In so doing, the result will be societies that are increasingly resilient in the face of both short-term shocks and slow onset changes.

One way to gauge this objective is by drawing from the literature on reducing the risk of disaster and looking at the concept of *social resilience*. This can be understood as the capacity to absorb stress or destructive forces through resistance or adaptation; the capacity to manage or maintain certain basic functions and structures during disastrous events; and the capacity to recover after the event.⁵⁷ In principle, the idea of resilience is relevant for thinking about a society's ability to cope with a wide range of problems, from natural calamities, through economic shocks, to invasion, to slow onset changes in the natural environment.

Key characteristics of a resilient society are that it is well governed, understands the risks it faces, can manage those risks and minimise its vulnerability to them, and that it is prepared to respond to unpreventable disasters. Being well governed, the society has clear policies and a strong framework of law and regulation, implemented by capable institutions. It understands the risks it faces because it has the scientific capacities to do so, and can manage them successfully not only because of good planning, but because of public awareness as a result of good communications and sharing of information. It can minimise its vulnerability because it has made provision for social welfare as well as physical protection, and it is well organised with good early warning systems to be able to respond quickly if a natural disaster should strike. Indeed, such a society may experience extreme events such as hurricanes, storms and earthquakes, but its resilience means those events will not actually be disasters.

This depiction of a resilient society is abstract and idealised. It does not describe an existing society – especially not one to be found among the 102 countries that face the double-headed risk of climate change and violent conflict – but it sets objectives to aim for. What it makes clear is that physical protection and preparation for quick response to extreme events are the results of exploring problems and identifying possible solutions, as well as deploying expert knowledge within an open process of information-sharing and discussion. The closer it is possible to get to an inclusive process with the participation of all affected groups, the greater the degree of resilience that can be developed.

Simultaneously addressing peacebuilding needs and climate change adaptation will involve considering how different sectors and actions are connected. For example, building a new road will not only improve transport infrastructure but may also encourage poor communities to settle along the roadside as a means of enhancing their livelihoods through road-side trading. If the road is cutting

BOX 9 Nepal: scenarios of conflict and peace Nepal⁵⁸ is in the process of emerging from a 10-year civil war. The conflict, which began in 1996, stemmed from a combination of issues driven by endemic poverty, inequality, arbitrary authority and corruption at all levels. These fuelled a widespread sense of injustice and frustration. An attempt at democratic reform in 1990 ran out of steam because the elected politicians could not solve the problems of development in Nepal. Against this background of frustrated expectations, the Communist Party of Nepal (Maoist) launched an insurgency, operating in rural areas marked by lack of access to resources and social services for marginalised groups.

Nepal's economy is one of the poorest in the world with 90 percent of the population relying on subsistence agriculture for their livelihoods.⁵⁹ Much of Nepal consists of rugged terrain and only 20 percent of the land is arable. The lives of many inhabiting the hilly and mountainous areas depend on fragile ecosystems and, to make matters more difficult, many farmers do not have secure title to the land they work.

The war unfolded as a low intensity conflict. On the government side it was mainly the police forces that were involved and the Maoists' insurgent strategy made steady progress for several years. Things changed when King Gynanendra came to the throne after the death of his brother in the royal massacre of June 2001,⁶⁰ and decided on a more active pursuit of the war, giving the army a larger role. The strategy was counterproductive and the Maoists took control of ever larger areas. The King steadily increased his authority in and over the government and, in February 2005, took over absolute power.

The Peoples Movement in spring 2006 (known as *Jana Andolan II*) forced the King to surrender absolute power. The Maoists ceased combat, established an office in the capital Kathmandu, and joined the provisional coalition government.

However, the situation is by no means settled and peace is by no means certain. In early autumn 2007, the Maoists left the coalition government (though they did not leave the political process), arguing that the King should be stripped of all his remaining powers and rights before elections are held for a Constituent Assembly. To a considerable degree, apart from the Maoists, the most influential politicians in Nepal today are the same ones who were unable to sustain democracy in the 1990s. Nepal's infrastructure, governance mechanisms and economy are fragile and the transitional government is still highly dependent on foreign development aid for the delivery of basic goods and services.

The task of building peace is complicated not only by the aftermath of war and the persistence of its underlying social and economic causes, but also by the effect of environmental changes. Because of flooding and land scarcity, people have had to work poor land. For example, the Midland region is severely deforested and eroded, and there is a shortage of wood and fodder for daily use. Many communities are already under extreme pressure and their difficulties will be compounded by the effects of climate change.

Impact of climate change

Recent climatic trends show an increasing mean temperature over recent decades, most markedly at high altitudes.⁶¹ This has already affected the Himalayas, with glaciers melting, increasing the volume of glacial lakes, and making them more prone to flooding. As this process continues, however, flooding will give way to water shortages. There is also a moderate risk that the monsoon might intensify due to climate change,⁶² which would affect the variability of river flows and hamper the operation of hydroelectric plants, which are highly dependent on predictable river flows.⁶³ Being 90 percent dependent on hydroelectricity,⁶⁴ Nepal's energy supply is likely to be severely affected by the consequences of climate change.

Development aid and climate-sensitivity

Nepal receives just over \$400 million per year in overseas development assistance, which accounts for over half of the government's total expenditure.⁶⁵ Despite evidence of climate change already taking place, Nepal has received little attention or funding under the UNFCCC (see Box 7) to assist adaptation efforts.

Furthermore, there is very little acknowledgment of the effects of climate change among the development community in Nepal. An analysis of the strategies and project documents of the 10 largest bilateral and international donors to Nepal reveals little explicit mention of climate change. These issues are currently viewed as 'secondary' by aid agencies, especially in Kathmandu, with attention focusing on the Constituent Assembly elections and associated security risks. Nor does Nepal's Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper, agreed with the World Bank and used as a guide for development and assistance, acknowledge the impact of climate change. This is particularly striking because of the wealth of research on the effect of climate change in Nepal that was available at the time of its drafting.⁶⁶

This lack of attention to climate change exists despite an OECD-DAC study's calculation that approximately 50-65 percent of total Official Development Assistance investment is in projects that are highly likely to be affected by climate risks.⁶⁷ This includes both activities that may be affected directly by climate change, as well as development activities that may affect the vulnerability of local coping mechanisms to climate change.⁶⁸

Peace, development, climate - which takes priority?

One of the most significant factors causing Nepal's civil war was the failure of the post-1990 democratic governments to fulfil the expectation among ordinary Nepalis of a better life under democracy. The present transitional government faces the critical task of building trust among its citizens by fulfilling their expectations of reduced poverty, inequality and corruption – that is, by generating fairness and justice in society and government. This combination of social, economic and political development is imperative for Nepal to achieve sustainable peace.

Like other countries attempting to make their way out of a period of violent conflict, Nepal faces the challenge that peace is essential for development and development is essential for peace. It is not possible to give one priority over the other. At the same time, as in other countries, development and peacebuilding have to be climate-sensitive – which they are not at present – or the physical effects of climate change will have negative consequences for peace and development alike. To achieve these interlocking goals, Nepal needs responsive and efficient government institutions. Further, it needs a new social consensus supporting these goals so that there is community-level participation in development, peacebuilding and adaptation to climate change.

It is not difficult to envisage a Nepal that is unable to carry out the necessary combination of tasks. In that case, even if war has not recurred for other reasons, the effects of climate change will worsen the situation of ordinary people, development goals will not be met, demands and pressures on government will intensify. The inability of the government to respond positively will make a repressive reaction to pressure more likely – and the ingredients will all be in place for a return to civil war. In short, the consequences of climate change are exacerbating the risks of armed conflict recurring to which Nepal is already vulnerable. If further violence cannot be prevented then, whatever its causes, it will ensure that development is thrown further back and adaptation to climate change is neglected.

Is it possible to envisage a Nepal that manages to combine peacebuilding, development and adaptation? Some signs of the basis for a more positive scenario are to be found in the Peoples Movement in April 2006 and in the strength of civil society organisations. Further signs could be seen in August 2007 when floods hit the Terai plain, where much of Nepal's industry and agriculture is located and half of its population lives. The floods posed severe risks for short-term development prospects, at a time when grievances have been voiced in the Terai that their diverse local interests are not fully represented in the agreements that brought the civil war to an end. But careful management of the flood relief operations actually brought conflicting parties together and had a positive impact on the peace process.

This may not have been achieved by design but the response to the Terai floods offers an illustration of how climate responses and adaptation strategies could be used as a vehicle for peacebuilding. Going beyond that example, long-term response to climate change will work best if it has been formulated through dialogue among the people and communities most affected. It would be necessary to repeat this many times over in communities throughout the country and this kind of problem-solving dialogue is also needed at the national level. The scientific knowledge and the organisational resources and energy needed for this task do exist in Nepal; the challenge is mobilising them in time. across a flood plain, those communities also will be increasing their level of vulnerability to climate change. Making a difference in one sector – such as hydropower – without improvements in the provision of other basic services – such as domestic water supply – can fuel new grievances (see Box 3). Developing the resilience of communities so they can adapt successfully to climate change will include developing the capacity to understand these linkages and to act on them.

The practicalities of adaptation

Adaptation to climate change is already taking place, but it is rarely done in order to build resilience. To date, most adaptation efforts have been initiated within a narrow frame of reference, looking at cost and benefit in terms of narrow economic interests. This, in itself, would not be a bad thing if it were set within a context of social adaptation and building resilience. When it is not, it risks being dysfunctional.

The concrete measures of a successful process of adaptation will emerge from local initiatives and will take a different shape in different contexts as they address different consequences of climate change. There are some examples that can be cited to indicate the practical import of the argument:⁶⁹

- In Mexico and Argentina, in response to increased flooding risks, a number of adjustments have been made: planting dates have been changed and new varieties of crop have been introduced, including drought-resistant plants such as agave and aloe. There also have been changes to overall management systems: stocks of the product have been built up as an economic reserve; farms have diversified by adding livestock operations and the plots used for crops and for grazing have been separated so as to diversify exposure; crop insurance has been set up and local financial pools established as an alternative to commercial crop insurance.
- In Botswana, national government programmes have been set up to re-create employment options after drought. This has entailed working with local authorities and providing assistance to small subsistence farmers to increase crop production.
- In the Philippines, responses to rising sea levels and storm surges include the introduction of participatory risk assessment; provision of grants to strengthen coastal resilience and rehabilitation of infrastructures; construction of cyclone-resistant housing units; retrofit of buildings to improved hazard standards; review of building codes; and reforestation of mangroves.
- And in Bangladesh, where an already rising sea level means that salt water intrusion is a major issue (see Box 4), steps are being taken at the national level, where climate change concerns have been included in the National Water Management Plan and, at local levels, for example, through the use of alternative crops such as switching from rice production to farming prawns and the use of low-technology water filters.

Opportunities for coherent adaptation are greater in some sectors, such as agriculture and forestry, buildings and urban infrastructure, but are currently limited in others, such as energy and health. This is only due to a lack of conceptual and empirical knowledge around these areas. There is an evident need to address these research and knowledge gaps, while taking immediate action on areas with stronger existing levels of knowledge and understanding.

The difference in adaptive capacity within and across societies is also a critical issue to be acknowledged in policy and practice. Climate change may not target the marginalised over the affluent, but the differential in capacity to adapt determines who suffers and the extent of that suffering. Communities already facing multiple pressures, such as poor access to economic and natural resources, will face barriers to adaptation. Addressing these barriers will itself be a means of promoting adaptation through bolstering capacity for the process of adaptation.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

As the IPCC notes, 'societies have a long record of adapting to the impacts of climate through a range of practices...but climate change poses novel risks often outside the range of experience, such as impacts related to drought, heatwaves, accelerated glacier retreat and hurricane intensity.'⁷⁰ In short, the future will not be the same as the past. The severity of impacts, both sudden shock and slow onset, will leave some communities unable to adapt to or cope with the physical effects and knock-on consequences of climate change. The most vulnerable communities with the weakest adaptive capacity are in fragile states.

This report has shown that in fragile states the consequences of climate change can interact with existing socio-political and economic tensions, compounding the causal tensions underlying violent conflict. In 46 states already affected by violent conflict, the dual problem of climate change and violent conflict can lock the state into a downward spiral where violent conflict restricts the adaptive capacity and climate change worsens the conflict. In a further 56 states, the consequences of climate change could move them into political instability, creating a high risk of violent conflict further on.

But the potential downward spiral can be transformed into a virtuous circle. The solution to this double-headed problem is a unified one. Essentially, this involves applying the established principles of conflict-sensitive development practices to climate change policies and practice. At the very least, climate change need not increase the risk of violent conflict and, at best, addressing climate change in fragile states can promote peace. By acting together to prevent violent conflict, governments and institutions will be better placed to address the demands of climate change adaptation. In fragile states, therefore, donor governments and institutions must do their best to ensure that climate change strategies are conflict-sensitive, and that peacebuilding and development activities are climate-sensitive.

Far from complementing one another, policies and strategies for development, peacebuilding and climate change are often disconnected and divergent. This is always an error, because it means opportunities for synergy are lost, and it can be dangerous when the different strands of policy undermine one another. The added dimensions of climate change to the multi-dimensional context of poverty and fragile states mean that decision-making must involve collaboration between the various donor agencies and government departments with the relevant fields of expertise. While there are some examples of joint action between national governments and international donors,⁷¹ research for this report found little evidence of policies or projects that specifically address climate change within an existing development and peacebuilding framework. This is probably due to the general lack of capacity of government institutions to engage with a relatively large number of donors – they often seem to spend their entire time in review meetings with different donors instead of getting everybody

together in one forum – as well as the limited scope of project funding and the lack of information sharing between environmental bodies, development actors and affected communities. Beyond this, however, as argued above, such activities need to be developed and implemented with local communities participating fully from the outset.

Failure to integrate climate change considerations into development and peacebuilding activities renders these activities, at best, short-term and, at worst, harmful. Interventions that are not conflict-sensitive can exacerbate conflict dynamics and worsen the situation which they intend to assist.⁷² Lack of conflict- and climate-sensitivity will slow down the development potential of fragile states, which will, in turn, increase the risk of violent conflict.

The core message of this report is that conflict-sensitive climate change policies can actively promote peacebuilding, and that climate-proof peacebuilding and development policies can be effective climate change adaptation policies. To this end, it is imperative to recognise and maximise the synergies between climate adaptation policies and peacebuilding activities in achieving the shared goal of sustainable development and peace.

This report is an attempt to identify, describe and explain a major problem, to indicate some paths that could be followed in order to find solutions and, by so doing, to emphasise the important place the double-headed problem of climate change and violent conflict should henceforth occupy on the international political agenda. We have argued that a harmonised approach – whereby peacebuilding activities and climate adaptation strategies respond to the need to strengthen governance and social resilience – provides the best solution to address the key risks of political instability, economic weakness, food insecurity and demographic changes posed by climate change in fragile states.

National governments and international organisations are only now starting to understand the social and political dimensions of the climate change problem. The first needs – which this report is a modest step towards meeting – are to raise awareness of the problem, to increase understanding of the ways in which the knock-on effects of climate change can unfold, and to generate a search for means of adaptation. The concrete measures of adaptation, tailored for each locality, are not sitting on a shelf waiting to be picked up; they have to be worked out through a process that brings together the necessary hard science and local knowledge.

However, even as the process of raising awareness and developing concrete measures slowly begins, the effects of climate change are unfolding. There is thus an urgent need to act, yet an inadequate knowledge basis on which to do so. In these circumstances, the best option is an incremental approach. To begin with, in fragile states where climate change will be an issue, development and peacebuilding strategies must be adapted so that they are sensitive to the future impacts of climate change. This will reduce the chance of donor intervention hindering adaptation options. Building on this, information sharing between environmental, development and peacebuilding organisations could promote understanding of the problem and lay the basis for mapping out adaptive strategies.

Here we offer 12 recommendations on the broad direction of international policy. Except at the most generic level, we do not set out solutions to the problem of climate change and conflict, but rather ways in which we believe those solutions can be identified.

Twelve recommendations for addressing climate change in fragile states

1. Move the issue of conflict and climate change higher up the international political agenda

It is now time to place the human, social consequences of climate change front and centre. This means speculating on the basis of projections and can seem abstract and hard to pin down. It is, however, necessary if we are to understand what is unfolding and how we should react. The *Stern Review*⁷³ made a start by exploring social and economic consequences. The UK government, which sponsored the *Stern Review*, went a step further by arranging a debate on climate change and security at the UN Security Council. Further initiatives are now needed to gain agreement that the social consequences are important and can be addressed, to move the issue forward through international institutions such as the UN and EU, to develop international guidelines for adaptation, and to make available adequate funding.

2. Research the indirect local consequences of climate change

This report represents a first step at exploring the chain of effects between climate change and violent conflict, at gauging the scale of the problem, and at identifying remedial measures. But the knock-on effects of climate change will be different in each place, not only because the physical effects are different, and the other key features of the natural environment are different, but also because the social structure and economic base are different. The consequences of climate change in Kathmandu will be different from the consequences in rural Nepal, let alone in Bangladesh, the Nile Delta, or Peru. The generic analysis in this report therefore needs to be followed by further exercises going into the detail of how these effects play out in regions, countries and localities, and defining the necessary measures for adaptation.

3. Develop and spread research competence

It is an urgent priority to get this research under way and, at the same time, it is necessary to ensure that long-term competence to undertake such research exists in those regions and countries that are likely to be affected. This indicates the need for a major programme of long-term capacity building in both the natural and social sciences. It is a big challenge, but there are simply too many risks involved in not taking it on. Without developing local competence, it is all too likely that the hard science on climate change will be seen as a foreign invention, while the social science assessment of risks will be treated as political interference. Equally, in both social and natural science, distance does not generate precision about consequences; the best place for the research to be undertaken is *in situ*. University and research networks already exist worldwide and need to be mobilised and strengthened in order both to develop and spread competence on these interlocking issues.

4. Improve knowledge and generate policy through dialogue

This report has argued three points about dialogue:

- a) That the best way to garner information includes drawing on local knowledge and the best way to achieve that is through dialogue;
- b) That the best way to develop policy is by putting local interest and scientific research into dialogue with each other;
- c) That dialogue around climate change can be a means of peacebuilding and that cooperation on adaptation to climate change can be a joint task to emerge out of a peacebuilding dialogue.

International cooperation needs to focus on providing the financial resources, training and enabling environment for multiple levels of dialogue to be pursued by local communities, national governments and regional organisations In this nascent field, cross-border information sharing and lessons learned will provide examples of good and bad practice.

5. Prioritise adaptation over mitigation in fragile states

This report has shown that in fragile states, adaptation to climate change is the most pressing need. The majority of fragile states have subsistence economies and thus very low carbon emissions. While countries that lead the way in producing carbon emissions should lead the way in reducing them, there is little that can be done and little that will be achieved at a global level by pursuing mitigation strategies such as Clean Development Mechanism projects in fragile states, unless such projects also increase adaptive capacity. With limited international funds and capacity available among donors and national governments to address climate change, priority in fragile states should be given to understanding and addressing the consequences of the consequences of climate change, to prevent the even greater international problem of climate-related violent conflict.

6. Develop the right institutional context: good governance for climate change

The research competence, local participation and multiple levels of dialogue outlined above will lead nowhere unless they feed into the right institutional context – political parties, leaders and government departments that can both understand and absorb the hard and social science, as well as appreciate the validity of local perspectives and knowledge. Developing competence on climate change issues, including adaptation, needs to be seen henceforth as an integral part of good governance in all the states facing the combined risk of climate change impact and violent conflict or instability. Good governance is an increasingly important part of development cooperation, which means that donor governments have every possibility to act on this.

7. Prepare to manage migration

Some of the most serious problems and perhaps greatest fears raised by climate change concern migration. Most studies of the social consequences of climate change identify large-scale migration as a likely outcome and responses to migration could generate conflict. Research identifying likely migration flows would help identify both migrant and host communities where dialogue should be opened pre-emptively, to anticipate problems, identify possible benefits and prepare to manage the process.

8. Ensure National Adaptation Plans of Action are conflict-sensitive

National Adaptation Plans of Action are a useful starting point. However, in the context of fragile states, the value of NAPAs will be realised only if they take account of a state's socio-political and economic context and conflict dynamics. To this effect, they should be joined up to existing national strategies on poverty and conflict resolution.

9. Climate-proof peacebuilding and development

Likewise, peacebuilding needs to reflect the need for adaptation to climate change. Through the UN Peacebuilding Commission, two countries (Burundi and Sierra Leone) now have peacebuilding strategies; more are expected to follow. A joint mission by western donor governments developed a common framework for supporting the Comprehensive Peace Agreement in Sudan in January 2005. The Poverty Reduction Strategic Plan for the Democratic Republic of Congo, agreed between the DRC government and the World Bank, is intended to give a comprehensive sense of the country's needs as it attempts to recover from decades of dictatorship culminating in years of anarchy and civil war. These are a few examples of how countries trying to make their way out of violent conflict increasingly work along lines laid out in a strategic plan or set of guidelines. All such plans can and should have the added component of adaptation to climate change, should explicitly link it to peacebuilding and development, and should make explicit how activities on these three interconnected strands strengthen one another.

10. Engage the private sector

The private sector has a role that could be crucial in driving forward adaptation, but care will be needed to ensure that the economic opportunities that adaptation offers are not taken up in a way that is ultimately self-defeating. Governments and inter-governmental bodies should:

- a) Work with major multinational companies to develop guidelines for supporting adaptation to climate change in the poor and unstable countries where they have operations.
- b) Help national and local companies identify ways in which their ordinary commercial operations can support adaptation by changing, as appropriate, production, products and distribution.

11. Link together international frameworks of action

There are several different internationally agreed frameworks that address aspects of the interlinked issues of climate change, peacebuilding and development, for example the OECD-DAC guidelines on development in fragile states, NAPAs and Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers at national level, the European Commission, the disaster risk reduction frameworks such as Hyogo and the ISDR, the Global Environmental Facility and its various funding mechanisms. A concerted effort is needed in a variety of different international fora to ensure that these different frameworks are coherent with one another and mutually supportive.

12. Promote regional cooperation on adaptation

The framework of international cooperation on climate focuses on mitigation and is largely a global agenda, through the UNFCCC and the Conferences of Parties. The EU is probably the only regional body with a developed climate policy. Other regional bodies such as the African Union and the Organisation of American States, and sub-regional ones such as the Economic Organisation of West African States, the Association of South East Asian Nations, and the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation, all have potential key roles in raising awareness, developing policies, generating consensus and mobilising resources to support adaptation.

REFERENCES

- Stern, Nicholas et al. The Economics of Climate Change (The Stern Review). Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007. Available at: http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/independent_reviews/stern_ review_economics_climate_change/stern_review_report.cfm
- 2 Reports available at: http://www.ipcc.ch
- 3 Paavola, Jouni & W. Neil Adger. 'Fair adaptation to climate change,' *Ecological Economics*, 56, 2006, pp 594-609, p.604. Available at: www.elsevier.com/locate/ecolecon
- 4 Library of Congress Federal Research Division. Country Profile: Algeria, March 2006. http://lcweb2.loc.gov/frd/cs/profiles/ Algeria.pdf. Checked 16 August, 2007.
- 5 Brown, Lester. 'Water scarcity crossing national borders,' Earth Policy Institute. http://www.earth-policy.org/Books/Seg/ PB2ch03_ss6.htm. Checked 10 August, 2007. Adapted from Chapter 3, 'Emerging Water Shortages,' in Lester R. Brown, Plan B 2.0: Rescuing a Planet Under Stress and a Civilization in Trouble. New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2006.
- 6 Library of Congress Federal Research Division. Country Profile: Algeria, March 2006. http://lcweb2.loc.gov/frd/cs/profiles/ Algeria.pdf. Checked 16 August, 2007.
- 7 'Climate change and water resources in the Mediterranean,' IUCN. December 2003.
- 8 Migdalovitz, Carol. 'Algeria: Current Issues,' CRS Report for Congress. 24 April, 2006.
- Ban Ki-Moon. 'A Climate Culprit in Darfur,' in *The Washington* Post, 16 June, 2007.
- 10 O'Callaghan, Sorcha. Presentation at ODI event: 'Environment, Relief and Conflict in Darfur,' 2 August, 2007.
- 11 UNEP. Sudan Post-Conflict Environmental Assessment, United Nations Environment Programme: Kenya, 2007.
- 12 'Darfur Rising: Sudan's New Crisis,' ICG Africa Report No. 76, March 2004, p5.
- 13 Alam, Syed Ashraful. 'Use of biomass fuels in the brick-making industries of Sudan: Implications for deforestation and greenhouse gas emission,' 2006. Available at: http://ethesis.helsinki.fi/julkaisut/maa/mekol/pg/alam/useofbi o.pdf
- 14 Levina, Ellina. 'Domestic Policy Frameworks for Adaptation to Climate Change in the Water Sector,' OECD, 2006; Also, see the experience of privatisation of water in Latin American states such the 'Cochabamba Water Wars' that took place in Bolivia between January and April 2000, due to privatisation of the municipal water supply. See: http://ipsnews.net/news.asp?idnews=35418
- 15 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007.
- 16 'Climate Change Impacts on Agriculture in India,' UK DEFRA, 2007. Available at: http://www.defra.gov.uk/ENVIRONMENT/ climatechange/internat/devcountry/pdf/india-climate-6agriculture.pdf; and research conducted by Indian Agricultural Research Institute available at: http://www.iari.res.in/
- 17 Hussein, Karim, James Sumberg & David Seddon. 'Increasing Violent Conflict between Herders and Farmers in Africa: Claims and Evidence,' Development Policy Review, 1999.
- 18 The Economist. 'Neighbours, but not yet friends.' 28 June, 2007.
- 19 The Economist. 'A change of mind on coca,' 3 May, 2007.
- 20 For example, in 1994 the World Bank approved the 'Lima Rehabilitation and Management Project', a loan of \$150 million to modernise the public water company in Lima (SEDAPAL) and prepare it for eventual privatisation. The loan conditions required increased water rates, and reductions in the staff of the public water company.
- 21 Campion, Anita. 'Rural and Agricultural Finance: Emerging Practices from Peruvian Financial Institutions,' USAID MicroNotes, no. 27, April 2007.

- 22 Stern, Nicholas et al. *The Economics of Climate Change* [The Stern Review]. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007. Available at: http://www.hmtreasury.gov.uk/independent _reviews/stern_review_economics_climate_change/stern_revi ew_report.cfm
- 23 Baechler, G. 'Environmental degradation in the south as a cause of armed conflict', In: Carius, A. and K. Lietzmann, Environmental change and security: A European perspective, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1999; Van Ireland, E., M. Klaassen, T. Nierop, & H. van der Wusten, Climate change: Socio-economic impacts and violent conflict, Wagen ingen: Dutch National Research Programme on Global Air Pollution and Climate Change, Report No. 410200006, 1996.
- 24 Barnett, Jon. 'Security and Climate change,' Global Environmental Change, 13, 2003, pp7-17.
- 25 Reuveny, Rafael. 'Environmental Change, Migration and Conflict: Theoretical Analysis and Empirical Explorations,' GECHS, June 2005.
- 26 Reuveny, Rafael. 'Environmental Change, Migration and Conflict: Theoretical Analysis and Empirical Explorations,' GECHS, June 2005.
- 27 Reuveny, Rafael. 'Environmental Change, Migration and Conflict: Theoretical Analysis and Empirical Explorations,' GECHS, June 2005.
- 28 Brennan, Ellen M. 'Population, Urbanization, Environment, and Security: A Summary of the Issues', *Environmental Change and Security Project Report*, 5, Summer 1999. Available at: http://www.wilsoncenter.org/topics/pubs/feature1.pdf
- 29 'Pakistan: Karachi's Madrasas and Violent Extremism,' ICG Asia Report No. 130, April 2007.
- 30 Dworkin, Ronald. Law's Empire. Oxford: Hart Publishing, 1998; Raz, Joseph. Authority, Law and Morality. Monist, 68, 1985, pp295 - 314.
- 31 Raz, Joseph. Authority, Law and Morality. Monist, 68, 1985, pp295 314.
- 32 [']Drought Cuts Size of Lake Chad 90 Percent in 40 Years,' Agence France-Presse. 9 March, 1999.
- 33 Keen, David. 'Incentives and disincentives for violence', in M. Berdal and D. Malone, Greed and grievance: Economic agendas and civil war. Boulder: Lynne Reinner, 2000, pp19 -42; Goodhand, Jonathan, 'Enduring disorder and persistent poverty: A review of linkages between war and chronic poverty', World Development, 31, 2003, pp629-646.
- 34 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2001.
- 35 Stewart, F. 'Crisis Prevention: Tackling Horizontal Inequalities', Oxford Development Studies, 28, 2000, pp245-263.
- 36 Ohlsson, Leif. Livelihood conflicts: Linking poverty and environment as causes of conflict. Stockholm: Environmental Policy Unit, Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency, 2000; Goodhand, Jonathan, 'Enduring disorder and persistent poverty: A review of linkages between war and chronic poverty', World Development, 31, 2003, pp629-646.
- 37 Strategic Survey 2007. London: International Institute for Strategic Studies, 2007.
- 38 Oxfam. Adapting to climate change, Washington: Oxfam International, 2007; IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2007, Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- 39 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007, Chapter 19 on Africa.

- 40 Collier, Paul. 'Doing Well Out of War: An Economic Perspective,' in Mats Berdal and David M. Malone, eds, Greed & Grievance: Economic Agendas in Civil Wars, Boulder, CO and London: Lynne Rienner, 2000, pp91-111; Keen, David. 'Incentives and disincentives for violence,' in M. Berdal and D. Malone, Greed and grievance: Economic agendas and civil war, Boulder: Lynne Reinner, 2000, pp19 -42; Goodhand, Jonathan. 'Enduring disorder and persistent poverty: A review of linkages between war and chronic poverty,' World Development, 31, 2003, pp629-646.
- 41 Simonett, Otto. 'Potential Impacts of Global Warming,' GRID-Geneva, Case Studies on Climatic Change, Geneva, 1989.
- 42 Paavola, Jouni & W. Neil Adger. 'Fair adaptation to climate change,' *Ecological Economics*, 56, 2006, pp 594-609, p.595. Available at: www.elsevier.com/locate/ecolecon
- 43 The World Bank GEF. Available at: www.worldbank.org/gef
- 44 World Bank: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/ESSDNET WORK/Resources/DialogueonClimateChange_KathySierra.pdf; UNFCCC Factsheet 'Investment and financial flows for a strengthened response to climate change.' Available at: http://unfccc.int/files/meetings/intersessional/awg_4_and_dial ogue_4/application/pdf/070828_fin_flow_factsheet.pdf
- 45 OECD DAC CPDC on Environment, Conflict and Peace. Available at: http://www.oecd.org/document/44/0,2340,en_2649_34567_3552 7980_1_1_1_1,00.html
- 46 EU Global Monitoring for Environment and Security (GMES) webpage. Available at: http://europa.eu/scadplus/leg/en /lvb/l28170.htm. Accessed on 22 October 2007.
- 47 These 22 states are: Bangladesh, Bhutan, Burundi, Cambodia, Comoros, Djibouti, Eritrea, Haiti, Kiribati, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mauritania, Niger, Democratic Republic of Congo, Rwanda, Samoa, Senegal, Sudan, Tanzania and Tuvalu (UNFCCC, 2007).
- 48 UN Statistics Division/CDIAC, carbon dioxide emissions per capita, MDG indicator 28. Available at: http://unstats. un.org/unsd/mi/mi_series_results.asp?rowId=75. Accessed July 2007.
- 49 UN Statistics Division/CDIAC, carbon dioxide emissions per capita, MDG indicator 28. Available at: http://unstats.un.org/ unsd/mi/mi_series_results.asp?rowld=75. Accessed July 2007.
- 50 World Bank Sri Lanka website: http://web.worldbank. org/nlk. Accessed on 6 June, 2007.
- 51 Chávez, Franz. 'Bolivia: Cochabamba's "Water War", Six Years On,' IPS News, 8 November, 2006. Available at: http://ipsnews. net/news.asp?idnews=35418. Accessed on 7 September, 2007
- 52 Wara, Michael. 'Is it working? Is the global carbon market working?', Nature, 8 February, 2007, pp. 595-596; and Larry Lohmann (editor). Carbon Trading: A Critical Conversation on Climate Change, Privatisation and Power, Dag Hammarskjold Foundation, 2006.
- 53 Davies, Nick. 'Abuse and incompetence in fight against global warming,' The Guardian, 2 June, 2007. Available at: http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2007/jun/02/energy.bu siness; John Vida. 'Guilt-free sins of emission,' The Guardian, 3 February, 2005. Available at: http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2005/feb/03/emissions trading.environment; www.cdmwatch.org
- 54 'The World Bank and the Carbon Market,' CDM Watch, April 2005. Available at: www.cdmwatch.org
- 55 CDM Watch Website: www.cdmwatch.org. Accessed on 23 July, 2007.
- 56 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007, Chapter 17: Assessment of adaptation practices, options, constraints and capacity.
- 57 Adapted from Twigg, John. 'Characteristics of a Disasterresilient Community,' 2007.
- 58 Our analysis of Nepal draws strongly on the research of Dr Fiona Rotberg of the Silk Road Studies Institute at Uppsala University. She generously contributed to our understanding with her current research and we are very grateful for her contribution. While we have benefited from this assistance, our conclusions and any errors of interpretation are our own responsibility and any fault should not be laid at the door of Dr Rotberg.

- 59 CIA Factbook 2007. Available at: https://www.cia.gov /library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/np.html. Accessed on 16 August, 2007.
- 60 Gregson, Jonathan. *Blood Against the Snows*, Fourth Estate: London, 2003.
- 61 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007.
- 62 Shrestha, A. B. 'Climate Change in Nepal,' in draft proceedings of the Consultative Workshop on Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation Options in Nepal's Hydropower Sector with a Focus on Hydrological Regime Changes Including Glacial Lake Outburst Flooding, Department of Hydrology and Meteorology and Asian Disaster Preparedness Centre: Kathmandu, 2003.
- 63 OECD DAC. Harmonising Donor Practices for Effective Aid Delivery, OECD: Paris, 2003.
- 64 World Bank Nepal website: http://web.worldbank.org/np. Accessed on 6 June, 2007.
- 65 Human Development Report 2006. Available online at: http://hdr.undp.org/hdr2006/statistics/countries/data_sheets/ct y_ds_NPL.html. Accessed on 22 October, 2007.
- 66 ICIMOD. Climatic and Hydrological Atlas of Nepal, International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development: Kathmandu, 1996; UNEP. Nepal: State of the Environment, United Nations Environment Programme: Nairobi, 2001; Liu, X. and B. Chen. 'Climate Warming in the Tibetan Plateau during Recent Decades,' International Journal of Climatology, 20, 2002, pp1729-1742.
- 67 OECD DAC. 'Development and Climate Change in Nepal: Focus on Water Resources and Hydropower,' 2003. Available at: h t t p : / / w w w . o e c d . o r g / d a t a o e c d / 6/51/19742202.pdf
- 68 OECD DAC. 'Development and Climate Change in Nepal: Focus on Water Resources and Hydropower,' 2003. Available at: h t t p : / / w w w . o e c d . o r g / d a t a o e c d / 6 /51/19742202.pdf
- 69 Examples taken from: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007, Chapter 17: Assessment of adaptation practices, options, constraints and capacity.
- 70 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007, Chapter 17.
- 71 For example, the EU is currently preparing a communication on the building of a Global Climate Change Alliance between the EU and vulnerable developing countries.
- 72 Duffield, Mark. 'Aid policy and post-modern conflict: A critical review,' Occasional Paper, 19, University of Birmingham: Birmingham, 1998; Duffield, Mark. Global Governance and the New Wars: the Merging of Development and Security, Zed Books: London and New York, 2001; Leader, Nicholas and Joanne Macrae. Shifting Sands: The theory and practice of coherence between political and humanitarian responses to complex emergencies, ODI: London, 2000; OECD DAC. Harmonising Donor Practices for Effective Aid Delivery, OECD: Paris, 2003; Pottier, Johan. 'Why aid agencies need better understanding of the communities they assist: The experience of food aid in Rwandan refugee camps,' Disasters, 20, 1996, pp324-337.
- 73 Stern, Nicholas et al. The Economics of Climate Change (The Stern Review). Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 2007. Available at: http://www.hmtreasury.gov.uk/independent_reviews/stern _review_economics_climate_change/stern_review_report.cfm

LIST OF STATES AT RISK

A: States facing a high risk of armed conflict as a knock-on consequence of climate change

- 1. Afghanistan
- 2. Algeria
- 3. Angola
- Bangladesh 4.
- 5. Bolivia
- 6. Bosnia & Herzegovina
- 7. Burma
- 8. Burundi 9.
- **Central African Republic** 10. Chad
- 11. Colombia
- 12. Congo
- 13. Côte d'Ivoire
- 14. Dem. Rep. Congo
- 15. Djibouti 16. Eritrea
- 17. Ethiopia
- 18. Ghana
- 19. Guinea
- 20. Guinea Bissau
- 21. Haiti
- 22. India
- 23. Indonesia
- 24. Iran
- 25. Iraq
- 26. Israel & Occupied Territories
- 27. Jordan
- 28. Lebanon
- 29. Liberia
- 30. Nepal
- 31. Nigeria
- 32. Pakistan
- 33. Peru
- 34. Philippines
- 35. Rwanda
- 36. Senegal
- 37. Sierra Leone
- 38. Solomon Islands
- 39. Somalia
- 40. Somaliland
- 41. Sri Lanka
- 42. Sudan
- 43. Syria
- 44. Uganda
- 45. Uzbekistan
- 46. Zimbabwe

B: States facing a high risk of political instability as a knock-on consequence of climate change

- 1. Albania
- 2. Armenia
- 3. Azerbaijan
- 4. Belarus
- 5. Brazil
- Cambodia 6.
- 7. Cameroon
- 8. Comoros
- 9. Cuba
- 10. Dominican Republic
- 11. Ecuador
- 12. Egypt
- 13. El Salvador
- Equatorial Guinea
 Fiji
- 16. Gambia
- 17. Georgia
- 18. Guatemala
- 19. Guyana
- 20. Honduras
- 21. Jamaica
- 22. Kazakhstan
- 23. Kenya
- 24. Kiribati
- 25. Kyrgyzstan
- 26. Laos
- 27. Libya
- 28. Macedonia
- 29. Maldives
- 30. Mali
- 31. Mauritania
- 32. Mexico
- 33. Moldova
- 34. Montenegro
- 35. Morocco
- 36. Niger
- 37. North Korea
- 38. Papua New Guinea
- 39. Russia
- 40. Saudi Arabia
- 41. Serbia (Kosovo)
- 42. South Africa
- 43. Taiwan

50. Turkey 51. Turkmenistan 52. Ukraine 53. Vanuatu 54. Venezuela 55. Western Sahara

56. Yemen

- 44. Tajikistan
 45. Thailand
 46. Timor-Leste
- 47. Togo
- 48. Tonga
- 49. Trinidad and Tobago

The impact of climate change will make the poorest communities across the world poorer. Many of them are already affected by conflict and instability and thus face a dual risk. The consequences of climate change will fuel violent conflict, which itself hinders the ability of governments and local communities to adapt to the pressures of climate change. This dual problem has a unified solution. Developing a society's ability to handle conflicts will enhance its capacity to adapt to climate change – though the tasks seem different, the capacities to carry them out are effectively the same. Equally, a capacity to adapt to the effects of climate change will head off destabilising conflicts. Where climate change and violent conflict create a potential vicious circle of destructive effects, adaptation and peacebuilding combine to construct a virtuous circle of increasing stability.